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          1   PROCEEDINGS 
 
          2   (Court opens at 0903H) 
 
          3   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          4   Please be seated. 
 
          5   The Court is now in session. 
 
          6   Today the Chamber will hear the remainder of the testimony of 
 
          7   witness, Srei Than. And then we will hear the testimony of 
 
          8   witness 2-TCW-852. The Greffier, Ms. Chea Sivhoang, could you 
 
          9   report the attendance of the Parties and the individuals to 
 
         10   today's proceedings. 
 
         11   [09.04.17] 
 
         12   THE GREFFIER: 
 
         13   Mr. President, for today's proceedings all Parties to this case 
 
         14   are present. As for Nuon Chea, he's present in the holding cell 
 
         15   downstairs as he requests to waive his right to be present in the 
 
         16   courtroom. His waiver has been delivered to the greffier. The 
 
         17   witness who is to conclude his testimony, Mr. Srei Than, is 
 
         18   present with his duty counsel, Duch Phary. They're both in the 
 
         19   courtroom. The reserve witness, 2-TCW-852, already took an oath 
 
         20   before the ironclad statue on the 23rd February 2015. He has Mr. 
 
         21   Moeun Sovann as his duty counsel. However, Mr. Duch Phary will 
 
         22   replace Mr. Moeun Sovann this afternoon as he is not available. 
 
         23   [09.05.31] 
 
         24   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         25   Thank you, Ms. Sivhoang. The Chamber now decides on the request 
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          1   by Nuon Chea. The Chamber has received a waiver from Nuon Chea 
 
          2   dated, 24 February 2015. He confirms that due to his poor health 
 
          3   condition -- that is, headache and back pain and that he cannot 
 
          4   sit for long, and in order to effectively participate in the 
 
          5   future hearings, he requests to waive his right to participate in 
 
          6   and be present at the 24 February 2015, hearing. He has been 
 
          7   informed by his counsel about the consequence of this waiver, 
 
          8   that in no way it can be construed as a waiver of his right to be 
 
          9   tried fairly or to challenge evidence presented or admitted to 
 
         10   this Court at any time during this trial. 
 
         11   [09.06.32] 
 
         12   Having seen the medical report by the duty doctor for the Accused 
 
         13   at the ECCC dated, 24 February 2015, who notes that the health 
 
         14   condition of Nuon Chea is that he has constant back pain and he 
 
         15   cannot sit for long, and recommends that the Chamber also grant 
 
         16   him his request so that he can follow the proceedings remotely 
 
         17   from a holding cell downstairs. Based on the above information 
 
         18   and pursuant to Rule 81.5 of the ECCC Internal Rules, the Chamber 
 
         19   grants Nuon Chea's request to follow the proceedings remotely 
 
         20   from a holding cell downstairs via an audio-visual means for 
 
         21   today's proceedings as he waives his direct presence in the 
 
         22   courtroom. 
 
         23   The AV unit is instructed to link the proceedings to the room 
 
         24   downstairs so that Nuon Chea can participate in and follow 
 
         25   today's proceedings remotely. 
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          1   And the Chamber will now hand the floor to the defence team for 
 
          2   Khieu Samphan to put questions to this witness. You have the 
 
          3   floor. 
 
          4   [09.08.02] 
 
          5   QUESTIONING BY MS. GUISSÉ: 
 
          6   Good morning, Mr. President. Good morning, Mr. Srei Than. My name 
 
          7   is Anta Guissé. I am International Counsel for Mr. Khieu Samphan 
 
          8   and it is in this capacity that I will put some questions to you. 
 
          9   In the follow-up to your testimony, I'll try to put specific 
 
         10   questions to you. If you do not understand any of my questions, 
 
         11   please do let me know and I'll be more specific. 
 
         12   Q. First point, you stated that you were assigned to Krang Ta 
 
         13   Chan as part of your military duties by a cadre in your 
 
         14   hierarchy. You mentioned your superiors Ta An and Ta In 
 
         15   (phonetic) and you stated that during your assignment, they did 
 
         16   come. I do not know whether both came or it's only one of them 
 
         17   who came to Krang Ta Chan and that they came only once. Did I 
 
         18   properly understand your testimony? 
 
         19   [09.09.22] 
 
         20   MR. SREI THAN: 
 
         21   A. That name is not my military commander and my commander 
 
         22   himself never visited Krang Ta Chan. The name that you pronounced 
 
         23   was not correct. 
 
         24   Q. In that case, could you please correct me and tell me, what 
 
         25   was the name of your direct superior during that period? That 
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          1   would be my first question to you. 
 
          2   A. The military commander of Regiment 13 was Tha and another one 
 
          3   was Mean. 
 
          4   Q. And if I understand what you're saying this morning, none of 
 
          5   them came to Krang Ta Chan; is that correct? 
 
          6   [09.10.28] 
 
          7   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
          8   Q. Yesterday, in answer to a question put to you by Judge 
 
          9   Lavergne, you stated that you received instructions from your 
 
         10   superiors only once during the period when you were at Krang Ta 
 
         11   Chan. Can you tell us when you received those instructions and 
 
         12   who gave you those instructions, if the persons who came to Krang 
 
         13   Ta Chan were not your superiors? 
 
         14   A. At that time, the instruction was not relayed from anybody 
 
         15   superior on a daily basis. We had to be mastery of ourselves. So 
 
         16   the instruction was given only once. And during the few months 
 
         17   period that I stayed at Krang Ta Chan, it means I did not receive 
 
         18   any further instructions. 
 
         19   [09.11.45] 
 
         20   Q. But there was a time when you left Krang Ta Chan and I suppose 
 
         21   that you did so following instructions that you had received; I 
 
         22   do not think you did so at your own behest. You must have 
 
         23   received instructions from someone. Can you tell us when you 
 
         24   received those instructions and who gave you those instructions? 
 
         25   A. Please refresh your question and make it more specific. 
 

E1/268.101071118



Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia 
Trial Chamber – Trial Day 249                                   
Case No. 002/19-09-2007-ECCC/TC 
24/02/2015 

Page 5 

 
 
                                                           5 
 
          1   Q. If I remember correctly, you stated that you arrived in Krang 
 
          2   Ta Chan between 1976 and 1978, and that you left Krang Ta Chan in 
 
          3   1978. Who told you to leave Krang Ta Chan and when did you 
 
          4   receive those instructions to leave Krang Ta Chan? 
 
          5   [09.12.46] 
 
          6   A. After I concluded my duty in 1978, my military commander 
 
          7   transferred some of members of my unit into another unit and to 
 
          8   perform our role or duties as a soldier. 
 
          9   Q. I have indeed understood that there was an order that you be 
 
         10   transferred. What I am trying to understand from your statement 
 
         11   is how you received that order. Did someone come to Krang Ta Chan 
 
         12   to give you that order or did you get it from someone else? Who 
 
         13   did you get it from, was it from Duch or from someone else? 
 
         14   A. At that time, the instruction was relayed through messengers 
 
         15   and messengers assisted at various levels namely at the village 
 
         16   level or the commune level. And there were also messengers for 
 
         17   the army. 
 
         18   Q. Should I take it then that it was a military messenger who 
 
         19   transmitted that order to you? 
 
         20   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
         21   Q. Still with regard to the army, do you know whether An and 
 
         22   Duch, his assistant, had acquired some experience in the army 
 
         23   before they were appointed to be superiors or heads of Krang Ta 
 
         24   Chan? 
 
         25   [09.15.02] 
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          1   A. To my recollection, they did not have experience in the army. 
 
          2   They never worked as a soldier. 
 
          3   Q. And do you know whether at any point in time, whether through 
 
          4   messengers or some other means, they were in contact with your 
 
          5   superior, if only to inform them that you were going to move to 
 
          6   Krang Ta Chan to settle there with your unit? 
 
          7   A. I was not aware of that. 
 
          8   Q. Before we revisit the issue of Krang Ta Chan, I would like to 
 
          9   talk about your military training. When you joined the Khmer 
 
         10   Rouge, were you informed of the 12 moral principles or the 12 
 
         11   revolutionary commands? 
 
         12   [09.16.35] 
 
         13   A. When we joined the army, there were the so called 12 
 
         14   principles of the military but I cannot recall the details. 
 
         15   Q. Even though I understand that your memory may not be very 
 
         16   clear today but tell me, among those principles, was there a 
 
         17   principle regarding misconduct vis-à-vis, women? Do you recall 
 
         18   that? 
 
         19   A. I cannot recall that. 
 
         20   Q. Yesterday when my learned colleague Koppe told you that Say 
 
         21   Sen had accused you of raping women at Krang Ta Chan centre, you 
 
         22   said that was a fabrication. And you stated specifically that the 
 
         23   Khmer Rouge wouldn't spare you if you committed an act of moral 
 
         24   misconduct. Regarding that commandment, not to commit any acts of 
 
         25   misconduct, was that one of the orders that had been handed down 
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          1   to you by your superiors? 
 
          2   A. Yes. That was part of the moral principles of the army. 
 
          3   [09.18.42] 
 
          4   Q. In more specific terms, let us now talk about your unit. You 
 
          5   stated that there were six of you in your unit assigned to guard 
 
          6   Krang Ta Chan. I would like you to confirm to me, the names of 
 
          7   the persons who are members of that unit. Mr. President, 
 
          8   yesterday, as a matter of fact, my team stated yesterday that we 
 
          9   have circulated to the interpreters a list of names in Khmer and 
 
         10   a list of names in French and English with a view to assisting 
 
         11   them not to misspell names or to mispronounce names. So I gave 
 
         12   them that list to be sure that those names would be properly 
 
         13   pronounced in Khmer. And if you'd allow me, I will use that list 
 
         14   to avoid any problems. So within your unit, there was yourself; 
 
         15   was there a person called Saing -- that is, number 14 on the 
 
         16   list? 
 
         17   A. Yes, there was. 
 
         18   Q. Before proceeding, could you please give us the full name of 
 
         19   that person called Saing? 
 
         20   A. No, I don't know his full name. We only knew him by Saing. 
 
         21   [09.20.36] 
 
         22   Q. Within your unit, was there a soldier called Sim? And if yes, 
 
         23   can you give us his full name? 
 
         24   A. Yes, there was Sim. 
 
         25   Q. And do you know his full name? 
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          1   A. No, I don't. I only know his first name Sim. 
 
          2   Q. Was there a person called Soan in your unit -- that is, number 
 
          3   18 in your list? 
 
          4   A. Yes, there was. 
 
          5   Q. Do you know that person's full name? And does the name Vann 
 
          6   Soan ring a bell to you? 
 
          7   A. He was known as Soan and I do not know his family name. 
 
          8   Q. Were there any kinship ties between Soan and number 14 -- that 
 
          9   is, Saing? 
 
         10   A. I do not know. I do not know their backgrounds. 
 
         11   Q. Within your unit, was there a person by the name Touch -- that 
 
         12   is, number 21 on the list? 
 
         13   A. Yes, there was. 
 
         14   Q. How about number 22, Uok, was he also a member of your unit? 
 
         15   [09.22.57] 
 
         16   A. I cannot recall the name of Uok. 
 
         17   Q. I cited the names of five persons and you told me that you do 
 
         18   not remember Uok being a member of your unit. And the name of the 
 
         19   last person, was that person a member of your unit? 
 
         20   A. No, I don't. 
 
         21   Q. You made a distinction between the members of your unit who 
 
         22   were soldiers who had been assigned by the army and these people 
 
         23   were different from those assigned to Krang Ta Chan and who were 
 
         24   directly under the orders of An and Duch. Do I understand 
 
         25   therefore, that there were two groups, your group and the group 
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          1   of staff members who took their orders from An and Duch? 
 
          2   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
          3   [09.24.50] 
 
          4   Q. Do you remember the names of the other persons who are not 
 
          5   members of your unit and who are permanent staff members at Krang 
 
          6   Ta Chan? 
 
          7   A. I cannot recall their names; that is the names of the staff 
 
          8   working at Krang Ta Chan office. 
 
          9   Q. I will read out to you an extract of the testimony of Meas 
 
         10   Sokha at the hearing of the 21st of January 2015. The transcript 
 
         11   number is E8/289.1. It was at about 11.48 and he refers to a 
 
         12   number of persons. I'd like to know whether these or this extract 
 
         13   will jog your memory. This is what Meas Sokha said and I quote: 
 
         14   [09.26.00] 
 
         15   "There were ten guards. Some came from Krau (phonetic) commune". 
 
         16   Let me point out that the proper names in the French transcript 
 
         17   are not accurate. "Some came from Krau (phonetic) commune to 
 
         18   guard prisoners. Pai An (phonetic) was the chief of the guards 
 
         19   and when Duch was there, he was the chief. Moeun, Penh, Chhoeun", 
 
         20   Moeun is number 11 on the list, Penh is number 13, Chhoeun is 
 
         21   number 5 on the list. "Ouk", O-u-k, "Sieng", that's number 5 
 
         22   (sic) on the list, "and a few others were subordinates. I 
 
         23   remember some of these people. They were Suon, Sin, Saing, Duch, 
 
         24   five bore that name. There was also Ouk. They were guards. As for 
 
         25   Duch, he was the one who took notes. Sieng", S-i-e-n-g, "was in 
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          1   charge of killings. Moeun and Cheng (phonetic) were killers. And 
 
          2   there were six guards collecting prisoners from the building to 
 
          3   another location to be killed." 
 
          4   Now, Mr. Witness, can you tell me whether these names referred to 
 
          5   by witness Meas Sokha jog your memory? Was Moeun, number 11 on 
 
          6   the list, someone you remember? 
 
          7   [09.28.21] 
 
          8   A. I only heard of the name Moeun but I did not know the person. 
 
          9   Q. Does the name Penh, that's number 13 on the list, ring a bell? 
 
         10   A. It's the same thing. I only heard of the name. They were the 
 
         11   staff working at Krang Ta Chan office. I heard of their names but 
 
         12   I did not know them. 
 
         13   Q. Does the name Chhen, number 5 (sic) on the list ring a bell as 
 
         14   the name of someone who worked at Krang Ta Chan? 
 
         15   A. I cannot recall that. 
 
         16   [09.29.32] 
 
         17   Q. Does the name Ouk remind you of anyone -- that is, O-u-k? 
 
         18   A. I cannot recall that name. It doesn't ring a bell at all. 
 
         19   Q. What about Seang, number 16 on the list; does that ring a 
 
         20   bell? 
 
         21   A. Yes, I know Sang. 
 
         22   Q. And was he also among the people who was -- who were under An 
 
         23   and Duch's command? 
 
         24   A. No, he was not. Sang was member within my unit. 
 
         25   Q. So we're speaking about number 16 on the list, Seang. Can you 
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          1   repeat the question to the witness so that I may be sure about 
 
          2   this? 
 
          3   A. I know the person by the name of Sang. 
 
          4   Q. Therefore number 16, S-e-a-n-g , Seang is someone you don't 
 
          5   know, is that correct? 
 
          6   [09.31.40] 
 
          7   A. I know a person by the name of Sang. 
 
          8   Q. I apologise because I'm told by my colleague that the 
 
          9   pronunciation of name 16 on the list was maybe not the right one. 
 
         10   I'm speaking about S-e-a-n-g, Seang. So do you know this person, 
 
         11   this person whose name was just given to you? 
 
         12   A. I did not know this person. 
 
         13   Q. What about a certain Son, number 19 on the list, was he among 
 
         14   the staff at Krang Ta Chan? 
 
         15   A. I did not know this person either. 
 
         16   Q. What about a certain Sun, number 20 on the list; does he ring 
 
         17   a bell? 
 
         18   A. I did not know this person. 
 
         19   Q. You just told me that you recognised a certain number of names 
 
         20   as being staff members at Krang Ta Chan. And you told me that you 
 
         21   only knew their names, that you did not know them personally. So 
 
         22   my question is -- my first question -- so, when you were assigned 
 
         23   to Krang Ta Chan, were you there 24 hours a day? 
 
         24   [09.34.13] 
 
         25   A. At that time, we were at our own place -- that is, our own 
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          1   halls. My post was close to the fence, so I stayed in my post and 
 
          2   I was not allowed to move anywhere else besides my place. And on 
 
          3   some occasion or when we were assigned for a specific duty, we 
 
          4   could go onto the centre. And if we were not assigned we would 
 
          5   stay in our place, so we could not move anywhere else. 
 
          6   Q. Does that mean that that is where you washed, where you ate, 
 
          7   you were always there at your post? There was a place where you 
 
          8   could sleep, so can you tell me a little bit how things were 
 
          9   organised? I have a bit of trouble visualising this. 
 
         10   A. During that time, at my place, it was a hall and we could have 
 
         11   hammock sleeping in -- we slept in our own hammock. 
 
         12   [09.35.45] 
 
         13   Q. And is that also where you ate or someone would bring meals to 
 
         14   you from the Krang Ta Chan centre? 
 
         15   A. Yes, on some occasion someone would bring the food to our 
 
         16   place. However we would have our own meal. 
 
         17   Q. And who was in charge of bringing meals to you? Was it one of 
 
         18   the guards at Krang Ta Chan or was it someone else? 
 
         19   A. Someone in the centre and I did not know this person. 
 
         20   Q. In your statement before the Co-Investigating Judges -- that 
 
         21   is, document E319.1.25, at Answer 44, when you answered the 
 
         22   question, "Did An and Duch question prisoners?" And you answered 
 
         23   the following, [free translation]: "Yes. Only they could do it or 
 
         24   Seang", S-e-a-n-g "who was the closest to them. Seang would also 
 
         25   interrogate prisoners, but I did not know exactly what he did." 
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          1   [09.37.30] 
 
          2   Q. So you brought up this person's name spontaneously when you 
 
          3   were questioned by the investigators of the OCIJ. So, can you 
 
          4   tell us if this person was also a guard under the command of An 
 
          5   and Duch? 
 
          6   A. As for Seang, I heard of the name and I never saw him 
 
          7   physically. I heard his name from others. And as for An and Duch, 
 
          8   An and Duch were the real names of the two individuals. 
 
          9   Q. But you said to the Co-Investigating Judges that Seang was the 
 
         10   closest to them and this is why he could also interrogate 
 
         11   prisoners. So how did you know that if you never met him 
 
         12   personally? How did you know that he was the closest to An and to 
 
         13   Duch? 
 
         14   [09.38.57] 
 
         15   A. We did not need to make any presumption. If one stay close to 
 
         16   the two individuals, I could say that this person was close to 
 
         17   those people. However I did not know this person Seang 
 
         18   physically. Seang was in the centre as well but as I said, I 
 
         19   never saw him physically. I did not know him well. 
 
         20   [09.39.39] 
 
         21   MS. GUISSÉ: 
 
         22   Q. So, I do not know if this is an interpretation issue. You say 
 
         23   that you never met him personally, but then you could conclude 
 
         24   that he was close to An and Duch because they were often 
 
         25   together. So my question is, did you see them together often, or 
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          1   did I misunderstand what you said? 
 
          2   MR. SREI THAN: 
 
          3   A. I saw the three people were together quite often. But I could 
 
          4   not say whether Seang was the close associate with the two 
 
          5   individuals. But the three people were staying together very 
 
          6   often. 
 
          7   Q. And since you said you saw them often together, my question is 
 
          8   therefore, where did you see them often together? 
 
          9   A. In the office or rooms of An and Duch. 
 
         10   Q. I will speak about your punctual work as a typist in a little 
 
         11   while, but before that, you said a few minutes ago, that unless 
 
         12   you were given a specific assignment at the security centre, your 
 
         13   unit would remain where it was posted, to supervise the centre. 
 
         14   So my question is, what kind of specific tasks could lead the 
 
         15   members of your unit to go to the centre as such? 
 
         16   A. I do not understand the question. Mr. President, could you 
 
         17   repeat your question, please? 
 
         18   Q. No problem. I asked you where you were posted, and I asked you 
 
         19   if you were always there. And you explained that there was a 
 
         20   hammock where you were posted, and that you would basically be 
 
         21   there all the time. Did I understand correctly with regard to 
 
         22   this particular point? 
 
         23   A. Yes, there was a hall at my place. There were no beds. There 
 
         24   was only a roof. So, we would sleep in our hammock. 
 
         25   [09.42.46] 
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          1   Q. Fine. And after having answered, or provided that answer, you 
 
          2   said that unless we had a specific task to complete, which would 
 
          3   bring you to the centre, you would remain at the same place. So, 
 
          4   my question is, what kind of specific task could lead you to go 
 
          5   to the centre? To the buildings at the centre? For example, you 
 
          6   were a typist. But what other kinds of tasks could lead your 
 
          7   guard colleagues to go to the security centre? 
 
          8   [09.43.36] 
 
          9   A. Only I was allowed to go into the centre. I lent a hand to do 
 
         10   the typing, and for others, colleagues, they would not go into 
 
         11   the centre. 
 
         12   Q. So, you're saying that during the entire period when your unit 
 
         13   was posted at Krang Ta Chan, none of the members of your unit 
 
         14   actually went to the compound at Krang Ta Chan. Is that correct? 
 
         15   A. On some occasions, some of my colleagues, they would just 
 
         16   accidentally go -- walk past, or walk into the centre. But for 
 
         17   their task, they would be on duty outside of the compound. 
 
         18   Q. So my specific question is; why would your colleagues then go 
 
         19   inside the compound? 
 
         20   A. I did not know about this. 
 
         21   Q. Did you know if, at any given moment, your colleagues 
 
         22   performed specific tasks upon Duch and An's orders? 
 
         23   A. I never received any order. 
 
         24   Q. You never received any orders, but my question was did your 
 
         25   colleagues receive any? 
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          1   A. During that time, we were on our own and we minded only our 
 
          2   business. We would know only what we were asked to do, and we did 
 
          3   not care about other people. 
 
          4   Q. So, you explained when you were assigned, that at the 
 
          5   beginning you were stationed about one kilometre from the Krang 
 
          6   Ta Chan compound, and then you started working closer to the 
 
          7   gate. You explained that there were two gates, one on the east 
 
          8   side, one on the west side. Did I understand correctly? 
 
          9   [09.47.03] 
 
         10   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
         11   Q. Who decided that you had to be moved from the post where you 
 
         12   were one kilometre away, to be relocated to the gates on the east 
 
         13   and west sides of the security centre? 
 
         14   A. Tha and Mean. 
 
         15   Q. And how did you receive those orders? 
 
         16   A. Through a messenger. 
 
         17   [09.48.01] 
 
         18   Q. So, in reality, you received instructions at least twice from 
 
         19   your superiors when you were posted outside of Krang Ta Chan. 
 
         20   This -- the time when you were moved to the gate and the time 
 
         21   when you were asked to leave Krang Ta Chan. Did I understand 
 
         22   correctly? 
 
         23   A. That is correct. 
 
         24   Q. And aside from those two times, did you receive instructions 
 
         25   from your superiors by messenger? Did you receive instructions at 
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          1   other times? 
 
          2   A. When we were -- when we left the Krang Ta Chan security 
 
          3   centre, we went back to our headquarters, and we stayed there. 
 
          4   Q. But to be sure I understood well, during the entire duration 
 
          5   of your assignment at Krang Ta Chan, you only saw a messenger 
 
          6   twice, bringing orders from your superior to you. Is that indeed 
 
          7   the case? 
 
          8   A. The messenger comes -- came only once when I was at Krang Ta 
 
          9   Chan. 
 
         10   Q. Here I have trouble understanding, because you said that you 
 
         11   received orders to no longer be one kilometre away from Krang Ta 
 
         12   Chan, but to move up close to the gates, following orders from 
 
         13   your two superiors. You said that you had received these orders 
 
         14   by messenger. And yesterday, and today a little earlier on, you 
 
         15   said that you received an order from your superior as well to 
 
         16   leave Krang Ta Chan and to go to headquarters to receive your new 
 
         17   assignment. So that's twice. Do we agree? 
 
         18   [09.50.47] 
 
         19   A. First messenger came to tell me that -- came to tell me, and 
 
         20   asked me to move closer to the gate of Krang Ta Chan centre. And 
 
         21   for the second time, messenger came again, and I was removed back 
 
         22   to my unit. 
 
         23   Q. So we agree. So, once you were assigned to the gate, at the 
 
         24   entrance therefore of the compound, who were the people you saw 
 
         25   go through this gate? First of all, did you see An and Duch go 
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          1   through the gate? 
 
          2   A. Gates -- as for the gates, people would go in and out through 
 
          3   the west gates. And for the east gates, I rarely saw people 
 
          4   moving in and out. And I saw only the people in the centre moving 
 
          5   in and out of that place. And for others, I never saw them move 
 
          6   in or out of the centre. 
 
          7   [09.52.46] 
 
          8   Q. In your statement yesterday, you -- we discussed a certain 
 
          9   number of names, and of prisoners who were at Krang Ta Chan. And 
 
         10   you said that they had a rather special status. This is the case 
 
         11   also for witness Meas Sokha. So my question is, when you were 
 
         12   assigned to the gate, did you see prisoners enjoying a special 
 
         13   status who were allowed to leave the compound during the day? 
 
         14   A. I was not aware of this. 
 
         15   Q. And more specifically, I'd like to read out to you an excerpt 
 
         16   from Meas Sokha's statement, at the 21 January 2015 hearing, 
 
         17   transcript E1/249.1, between 10.18 and 10.21. Meas Sokha, who 
 
         18   therefore is the son of Yeay Nha, whom you spoke about yesterday 
 
         19   and he says the following, free translation: 
 
         20   "I would tend two cows and a few buffalos. I would keep the 
 
         21   livestock in the fields, but in the evening I would return to the 
 
         22   detention centre. I had to return before 5 p.m." 
 
         23   Question: "Can you tell us specifically where you were allowed to 
 
         24   go to tend the livestock?" Answer: "I had to tend the buffalos 
 
         25   and the cows. I could do it pretty much everywhere. There were no 
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          1   restrictions. But the only condition was that I would return to 
 
          2   the detention centre before 5 p.m. And I also tried to catch 
 
          3   frogs when I was outside." End of quote. 
 
          4   So my question is, does this refresh your memory? Do you remember 
 
          5   that certain prisoners could step out of the compound, and go 
 
          6   tend to the livestock outside? 
 
          7   [09.55.38] 
 
          8   A. Yes, children. Small children, the minors, they were asked to 
 
          9   go to tend the cows and buffalos. And I did not recall those 
 
         10   children specifically because they were too young. 
 
         11   Q. Would they go through the west gate or the east gate? Or it 
 
         12   didn't matter? Did you see these children yourself? 
 
         13   A. Could you ask your question specifically? Who you were 
 
         14   referring to? 
 
         15   Q. You just told me that you remember that children could go tend 
 
         16   to the cows outside. You said that you couldn't remember the 
 
         17   names of these children, so I'm not going to ask you specific 
 
         18   questions about their names. What I'm simply saying is that, when 
 
         19   you saw the children step out of the compound, did they step out 
 
         20   through the gate that you were guarding? Through the west gate, 
 
         21   or through the east gate? 
 
         22   [09.57.21] 
 
         23   A. The children would move out and in by using the east gates -- 
 
         24   the west gates, rather. And as for the east gates, the children 
 
         25   would use that gate once in a while. They used the west gate very 
 

E1/268.101071133



Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia 
Trial Chamber – Trial Day 249                                   
Case No. 002/19-09-2007-ECCC/TC 
24/02/2015 

Page 20 

 
 
                                                          20 
 
          1   regularly. 
 
          2   Q. Can we say that in order to come in or to come out of the 
 
          3   Krang Ta Chan compound, it was necessary to go through one of 
 
          4   these two gates? 
 
          5   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
          6   Q. I would like to speak about something you said in your 
 
          7   statement, D125/129, French ERN, 00234575; Khmer, 0024789; 
 
          8   English ERN, 00231674. And this is the question that was put to 
 
          9   you: "Who brought the people to transfer them to the compound?" 
 
         10   [free translation]. "The sub-district militias brought them in." 
 
         11   My question is therefore, when the militiamen would bring the 
 
         12   prisoners into the compound, through which gate would they enter? 
 
         13   The west gate or the east gate? And would you then give them the 
 
         14   permission to go through that gate? 
 
         15   A. As I told you earlier, the west gate would be used very 
 
         16   regularly. And as for the east gate, it would be used once in a 
 
         17   while. So, west gate, west gate would be used very permanently 
 
         18   and regularly. 
 
         19   [10.00.33] 
 
         20   Q. Did you see any groups of prisoners leave Krang Ta Chan centre 
 
         21   to go outside, passing through one of those gates? 
 
         22   A. While I was there, no prisoner actually left through neither 
 
         23   of the gates. And besides the two gates, there was no other exit, 
 
         24   as the fence was barb-wired. In short, nobody could leave the 
 
         25   centre without going through either of the two gates. 
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          1   Q. You stated that there were various types of messengers: army 
 
          2   messengers, commune messengers. Please tell us, when the 
 
          3   messengers came, did they also get in through any of those gates? 
 
          4   Did they get in through those gates to deliver their messages? 
 
          5   [10.02.09] 
 
          6   A. I did not know the details about the arrangement. Usually, 
 
          7   people from outside had to stop at the fence. They were not 
 
          8   allowed to go inside the compound. 
 
          9   Q. Under those circumstances, how were the messages delivered to 
 
         10   An or to Duch? 
 
         11   A. When the message was sent to the gate, then the guards there 
 
         12   would in turn take it to their chief. 
 
         13   Q. I would like you to make one clarification that I haven't 
 
         14   requested of you. At what point in time were you assigned to 
 
         15   guard that entrance? Was it long before your departure from Krang 
 
         16   Ta Chan? 
 
         17   A. Initially, I was posted about one kilometre from the compound, 
 
         18   and I remained there for almost a year. That was in -- by late 
 
         19   '77 or early '78, I was sent to guard at the gate to Krang Ta 
 
         20   Chan compound. 
 
         21   Q. If I understand your testimony correctly, that was early in 
 
         22   1978. That was when you were assigned to guard that gate. That 
 
         23   is, before your departure from Krang Ta Chan. Is that correct? 
 
         24   A. Yes. 
 
         25   Q. In my notes, I am no longer sure. You left Krang Ta Chan 
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          1   around July, 1978. Did I correctly understand your testimony? Or 
 
          2   if I didn't, could you please give me an approximate period when 
 
          3   you left Krang Ta Chan? 
 
          4   [10.05.01] 
 
          5   A. I cannot recall it clearly. However, it was around June or 
 
          6   July, 1978. 
 
          7   Q. I will try to refresh memory in light of your prior 
 
          8   statements, D125/129, same page as that of the previous 
 
          9   reference. In French, 00234545; Khmer, 0024719; in English, 
 
         10   00231674. This was the question put to you: "Up until when did 
 
         11   you begin working at the office?" Your answer: "I did this work 
 
         12   until March or April, 1978. Later, when they learnt that I knew 
 
         13   how to type, they transferred me to work, typing various 
 
         14   documents, inside the Krang Ta Chan office." If you place your 
 
         15   departure from Krang Ta Chan around June, do you agree with me 
 
         16   that, in light of your statement, you guarded that gate in March 
 
         17   at the very earliest, and in June at the very latest? 
 
         18   [10.06.58] 
 
         19   A. As I have just stated, I was unsure of the exact month, and in 
 
         20   fact it happened during the rice transplanting season. 
 
         21   Q. Right. You made mention of a person called Soan (phonetic) in 
 
         22   your unit. Do you know whether, at any point in time, this person 
 
         23   called Soan (phonetic) -- that is, number 18 on the list, 
 
         24   fulfilled any duties as a messenger? 
 
         25   A. The six-man unit that I belonged to, none of us know any other 
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          1   roles that we performed, besides the guarding duty. We were 
 
          2   simply labelled 'combatants'. And sometimes, we each -- or any of 
 
          3   us could be called to -- to do a certain specific duty, upon 
 
          4   demand. That kind of summon was short. It was not our regular 
 
          5   duty. That applies to all the six men within the unit. 
 
          6   Q. And when you say that you could be requested to carry out 
 
          7   specific duties, at the request of who exactly did you carry out 
 
          8   such duties? 
 
          9   A. At the Krang Ta Chan office, the only two superiors were An 
 
         10   and Duch. 
 
         11   Q. So you are confirming that you did sometimes receive 
 
         12   instructions from those two men. Correct? 
 
         13   A. As to the work assignment that we were required to do, it was 
 
         14   not the actual instructions from them. They just needed us to 
 
         15   perform a specific assignment or task. 
 
         16   Q. Yesterday, you stated that the reason why you were assigned to 
 
         17   work as a typist was that, and I'm trying to remember, was that 
 
         18   most of the Khmer Rouge were illiterate. Can you explain this 
 
         19   point to the Chamber, and be more specific in your answer? 
 
         20   [10.10.41] 
 
         21   A. When I was asked to do the typing, I was not skilful in using 
 
         22   the typewriter, as I stated earlier. My typing skill was limited, 
 
         23   but it was doable. So it was just a secondary, or miscellaneous 
 
         24   job that I performed, and it was not a regular job. And I could 
 
         25   only assist them in this typing because no others, nobody could 
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          1   do it. 
 
          2   Q. When you say no one else in Krang Ta Chan, are you saying that 
 
          3   most of the people at Krang Ta Chan were illiterate? Should I 
 
          4   understand that as your testimony? 
 
          5   A. To my understanding, majority of them was illiterate. It means 
 
          6   they did not attend any school. And I believe only a minimal 
 
          7   number of them actually know -- knew how to read or write. 
 
          8   [10.12.18] 
 
          9   Q. In your statement, D125/129, the ERN in French is, 00234576; 
 
         10   ERN in English is, 00231675; in Khmer, the ERN is 002247900. You 
 
         11   spontaneously referred to two persons who were at Krang Ta Chan, 
 
         12   to your recollection. And the question that was put to you is as 
 
         13   follows: "Do you have anything to add regarding Krang Ta Chan 
 
         14   office?" And your answer was as follows: "I know that Say Sen. I 
 
         15   do not know where he lives now. I also know Neang Dam, who is now 
 
         16   living in Prab Siem village." My question to you is as follows; 
 
         17   can you tell us about Dam, and specify whether she (sic) was a 
 
         18   detainee or a staff member at Krang Ta Chan? 
 
         19   A. When I was there, Ta Dam was no longer there. And in fact, Ta 
 
         20   Dam had been detained prior to my arrival. And I heard that he 
 
         21   was a former chief of that prison, but somehow later on, he was 
 
         22   detained for the reasons unknown to me. 
 
         23   Q. Say Sen -- I am looking for the reference of the transcript, I 
 
         24   will find it later. In any case, during the hearing, you stated 
 
         25   that Dam was initially a soldier who had become a prisoner 
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          1   because he was accused of moral misconduct. Does that jog your 
 
          2   memory? 
 
          3   [10.15.14] 
 
          4   A. No, I did not hear anything about that. 
 
          5   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          6   Thank you, Defence Counsel Guisse. The time is appropriate for a 
 
          7   short break. We will take a break now and return at half past 
 
          8   ten. And court officer, please assist the witness and the duty 
 
          9   counsel during the break, and have them return to the courtroom 
 
         10   prior to half past ten. The Court is now in recess. 
 
         11   (Court recesses from 1015H to 1035H) 
 
         12   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         13   Please, be seated. The Court is now back in session. 
 
         14   I hand over the floor to the Defence Counsel for Mr. Khieu 
 
         15   Samphan to put questions to this witness. You may now proceed. 
 
         16   BY MS. GUISSÉ: 
 
         17   Thank you, Mr. President. I would like to revisit your assignment 
 
         18   to the gate, which we were discussing earlier. 
 
         19   Q. Can you tell us how far exactly this gate was from the 
 
         20   security centre? Was it just at the entrance or was the gate at 
 
         21   the entrance -- at the Krang Ta Chan entrance? 
 
         22   MR. SREI THAN: 
 
         23   A. As I mentioned already it was about 200 metres or less than 
 
         24   that. I have said it was about 200 metres or less than 200 
 
         25   metres. There were only two entrance, the east -- in the east and 
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          1   the west. And from the entrance -- from the entrance to the 
 
          2   prison, it was about 50 metres. 
 
          3   Q. Thank you for this clarification. Now I'd like to turn to a 
 
          4   point we discussed together regarding your statement D125/129, in 
 
          5   which you said that the militiamen came from different communes 
 
          6   with prisoners. Do you remember the names of these different 
 
          7   communes that would send prisoners to Krang Ta Chan? 
 
          8   [10.38.16] 
 
          9   A. I did not recall the communes and villages because they were 
 
         10   across the country. 
 
         11   Q. Does the commune of Cheang Tong -- that is, C-H-E-A-N-G then 
 
         12   T-O-N-G, ring a bell? Does this somehow remind you of anything? 
 
         13   A. Cheang Tong commune was in the Tram Kak district, Takeo 
 
         14   province. 
 
         15   Q. And do you remember if any prisoners came from that commune? 
 
         16   A. I did not recall it. 
 
         17   Q. And my last question, before I give the floor to my colleague, 
 
         18   Kong Sam Onn, when you answered my colleague, Victor Koppe, you 
 
         19   said that Say Sen had made up stories about you and you explained 
 
         20   that you did not know why he was making up those kinds of stories 
 
         21   against you. So, during your stay at Krang Ta Chan did you ever 
 
         22   have any kind of issue with him which may explain why he would 
 
         23   make up such stories? 
 
         24   [10.40.18] 
 
         25   A. I believe I do not have any matters with him and as for what 
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          1   he said, it is his right. For me, myself, I took an oath before 
 
          2   the Iron Statue, so I mention only the truth, nothing but the 
 
          3   truth. I did not state beyond what I did not know. It is all 
 
          4   true, it is his right to mention whatever he wants, so I cannot 
 
          5   make any assessment on his statement. 
 
          6   MS. GUISSÉ: 
 
          7   I am done with my examination, Mr. President, and I will give the 
 
          8   floor to my colleague. 
 
          9   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         10   Thank you. Please, Mr. Kong Sam Onn, you may now proceed. 
 
         11   [10.41.29] 
 
         12   QUESTIONING BY MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
         13   Mr. President, Your Honours. And good morning, Mr. Srei Than, I 
 
         14   have a few questions for you. 
 
         15   Q. First, I would like to hear confirmation from you as the guard 
 
         16   in Khmer Rouge period. I would like to know the factors which led 
 
         17   you to be a soldier in the Khmer Rouge period. 
 
         18   MR. SREI THAN: 
 
         19   A. The reason that I became a soldier in the Khmer Rouge period 
 
         20   was that there was a coup d'etat on 18 March 1970. There was -- 
 
         21   there were demonstrations, there were protests at that time, 
 
         22   against Lon Nol regime -- that is, Khmer Republic regime. And 
 
         23   there were dead people, lots of dead people in the Angk Ta Saom 
 
         24   district. I was about 13 or 14 years old at the time. I was 
 
         25   shocked and terrified. In 1973 -- in 1972 or 1973, I became a 
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          1   militiaman, after that, in 1974, I was sent to a unit in a 
 
          2   district and in 1975 I was moved to a regional unit. And in 1977, 
 
          3   I became a soldier in Division 210, Regiment 13. All these 
 
          4   factors led me to become a soldier, because of these sufferings. 
 
          5   I could see people were killed, innocent people were killed. 
 
          6   Thank you very much. 
 
          7   [10.44.00] 
 
          8   Q. Thank you very much. Could you clarify for the Court, during 
 
          9   the time, were you one among of the demonstrators in Angk Ta Saom 
 
         10   district or were you an onlooker at that time? 
 
         11   A. I was young during that time, but I could visualize what 
 
         12   happened in the area. Not only me, saw the incidents, everyone 
 
         13   could see people were killed and piles of dead bodies. 
 
         14   Q. How many people were killed at that time? Could you make an 
 
         15   estimate? 
 
         16   A. As for the demonstrators who died in the north of the Angk Ta 
 
         17   Saom market, from what I estimate, from the figure I heard, about 
 
         18   200 demonstrators were injured and killed. And 200 -- about 200 
 
         19   demonstrators died at that time and there were piles of dead 
 
         20   bodies. 
 
         21   Q. Thank you very much. I would like to know about Krang Ta Chan. 
 
         22   Could you tell me the specific dates or time concerning the 
 
         23   period that you were working in Krang Ta Chan? Document D125/229, 
 
         24   ERN in Khmer, 00224789; ERN in English, 00231674; French ERN is 
 
         25   at 00234575. Allow me to quote from your own statement. 
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          1   "From 18 April 1975, I was asked to do the farming with the 
 
          2   people to break the stones until the harvest season in 1977. Uok 
 
          3   sent me to work in a guard unit at the Krang Ta Chan office." 
 
          4   I would like to know from you concerning the harvest season in 
 
          5   1977, was it in rainy season or was it in dry season, at that 
 
          6   time? 
 
          7   [10.47.43] 
 
          8   A. It was in rainy season, wet rice farming, during that time. 
 
          9   Q. Could you clarify for the Court, was it in December or in 
 
         10   January? Was it in January 1978 or was it in December 1977? 
 
         11   Because the harvest season may fall in December or January every 
 
         12   year. Could you clarify this point? 
 
         13   A. It was between December and January. I did not remember the 
 
         14   specific dates, or perhaps it was at the end of January, after 
 
         15   the harvest season. 
 
         16   [10.48.50] 
 
         17   Q. Could you clarify -- be clearer for me, if it were in 
 
         18   December, it was in 1977, but if you said it was in January it is 
 
         19   one year later -- it was one year later, that is 1979 (sic). So, 
 
         20   if it was in December, it was in 1977. Again, could you clarify 
 
         21   for the Court whether it was in December or January? I understand 
 
         22   that you said it was from -- between 1977 -- December to January, 
 
         23   but could you clarify? Was it in 1976 or was it in 1977? 
 
         24   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         25   Counsel, could you repeat your question because you spoke very 
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          1   fast? 
 
          2   BY MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
          3   Thank you very much. I would like to hear clarification from Mr. 
 
          4   Witness in relation to the months that he stated. He -- I want to 
 
          5   know whether it was in December 1976 or was it in January 1977? 
 
          6   So, I would like to know exactly whether it was in December 1976 
 
          7   or was it in December 1977. 
 
          8   MR. SREI THAN: 
 
          9   A. At the time I could not know the date or year exactly, and I 
 
         10   could know only that it was in harvest season. I did not know 
 
         11   whether it was in December or January, what I knew is that it was 
 
         12   in the harvest season. 
 
         13   Q. To sum up, you mentioned that it was in December 1976 and it 
 
         14   was from December 1976 to January 1977, is that correct? 
 
         15   [10.52.10] 
 
         16   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
         17   Q. You stated yesterday about the time when you were at Krang Ta 
 
         18   Chan. At first you were about one kilometre away from the centre, 
 
         19   could you tell the Court once again about the post that you were 
 
         20   stationed? You said you were in the west, guarding. Could you 
 
         21   tell the Court how many members were there in your unit? You said 
 
         22   you were one kilometre away from the centre, so how many members 
 
         23   in your unit? 
 
         24   [10.53.18] 
 
         25   A. As for the post, I first stationed, it was about one kilometre 
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          1   away from the centre. It was close to a subsidiary road leading 
 
          2   to National Road Number 3. It was in the west part of the 
 
          3   subsidiary road. When I was there, we had five or six members in 
 
          4   our unit and we built a hall to stay in. I did not know 
 
          5   specifically what duty we would be assigned to do. After that, in 
 
          6   the rainy season or transplanting season, we built a hall to stay 
 
          7   in and there were six of us in the unit, and we stayed there. 
 
          8   Q. As for the six men units, were there any division into 
 
          9   sub-units? You mentioned already that there was no chief or no 
 
         10   commander in your unit, and you were all on your mastery stance. 
 
         11   I would like to know whether your units were divided into 
 
         12   sub-units so that you were on specific assignments. 
 
         13   A. Our six man unit, there was no division into sub-units. We 
 
         14   worked together and we were in our hall day and night. During 
 
         15   daytime we would try to look for food near our place, and we did 
 
         16   not go anywhere to guard, we stayed in our own place. 
 
         17   [10.56.11] 
 
         18   Q. You mentioned already that in your hall there was -- there was 
 
         19   a small hill. If you happened to stand on a small hill, could you 
 
         20   see any forest far away or nearby? 
 
         21   A. Actually, it was not a dense forest. It was in the open field 
 
         22   and it was close to villages and to people's houses. So, it was a 
 
         23   small hill and people could do farming surrounding that area. 
 
         24   Q. You mentioned that there were villages nearby, so could you 
 
         25   tell the Court how far from your place to the village? 
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          1   A. I did not know the names of those villages, and I did not know 
 
          2   also the distance from my place to those villages. 
 
          3   Q. Could you clarify to the Court, how many villages were there 
 
          4   in the area from the place where you were stationed? 
 
          5   [10.57.57] 
 
          6   A. I did not recall those village names. I did not know those 
 
          7   villages. 
 
          8   Q. Could you clarify the numbers of villages there? I understand 
 
          9   that you did not recall the names of those villages, so how many 
 
         10   villages were there in the area? 
 
         11   A. I did not remember and I did not also know the village where I 
 
         12   was stationed in. 
 
         13   Q. In relation to the post where you were stationed, were there 
 
         14   any vegetable farms or sugar farms there? 
 
         15   A. Near my place, there were mango trees, there were banana trees 
 
         16   and I could see a few banana trees and a few mango trees. When I 
 
         17   was there I could see that the harvest season finished already. 
 
         18   Q. I want to know the vegetable farms far away from your post. 
 
         19   You mentioned already that you were one kilometre away from the 
 
         20   centre, so I would like to know the area, the place in that area. 
 
         21   Were there any trees, banana trees or mango trees, in that area? 
 
         22   A. As for the area between where I stationed and the centre, 
 
         23   there was an all deserted village and nobody was living there. 
 
         24   And, of course, there was some other vegetation, including 
 
         25   coconut trees. It was an old village, but there was no house and 
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          1   nobody was there. It was empty. 
 
          2   [11.00.53] 
 
          3   Q. Let -- I move now to your duties while you were posted at the 
 
          4   outer part of the Krang Ta Chan centre. What was the main duty 
 
          5   assigned to your unit? 
 
          6   A. While we were posted there, the most important duty for us was 
 
          7   to wait and to receive people who had been arrested from villages 
 
          8   or communes. When those prisoners were brought to our post, then 
 
          9   we would arrange, among our six of us, to take those prisoners to 
 
         10   the gate of the compound. 
 
         11   Q. Upon receiving those prisoners where you were posted, how was 
 
         12   the arrangement made? Can you elaborate a little bit further on 
 
         13   this? 
 
         14   A. Once people who had been arrested from villages or communes, 
 
         15   they were brought to our post with their hands tied behind their 
 
         16   backs, they were walked to our post. Then they would deliver us a 
 
         17   letter, and then we would take the letter an walk the prisoners 
 
         18   to the gate. We handed over the letter and the prisoners to the 
 
         19   guards at the gate and then we left. We did not enter the 
 
         20   compound. 
 
         21   [11.03.10] 
 
         22   Q. Usually, how many of your unit members escorted prisoners to 
 
         23   the gate? 
 
         24   A. We made an arrangement amongst ourselves. Sometimes this 
 
         25   person or that person would escort the prisoners to the gate. Any 
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          1   of us could do that job and once we walked the prisoners there, 
 
          2   we handed the letter and the prisoners to the guard at the gate 
 
          3   and we left. 
 
          4   Q. You said any of your six member unit could escort the 
 
          5   prisoners. Was only one member or were there two members escorted 
 
          6   the prisoners at any one point or at any one time? 
 
          7   A. If there was only one prisoner, then only one of us would 
 
          8   escort him or her. And if there were two or three or more, then 
 
          9   two or at least two of us would accompany them. So, it varied 
 
         10   depending on the number of prisoners. 
 
         11   Q. You stated that during the rice transplanting season you moved 
 
         12   from where you were posted about one kilometre from the compound 
 
         13   to the West part of the gate of the compound. Can you tell the 
 
         14   Court the location of the buildings within the compound, how many 
 
         15   main buildings were there? 
 
         16   [11.05.29] 
 
         17   A. It seemed there were no main buildings. In fact, there were 
 
         18   prisoner's buildings which were made of wood with thatch roof. 
 
         19   They were the main buildings. As for the army who stayed there, 
 
         20   they lived in a building with thatch roof and open structure, and 
 
         21   they slept in hammocks. 
 
         22   Q. My question is for you to provide details of the detention 
 
         23   buildings. In your document D125/129, ERN in Khmer is, 00224792; 
 
         24   and in French, 00234578; and in English, 00231677; which is a 
 
         25   sketch that you drew. Mr. President, I seek for permission to 
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          1   hand this sketch to this witness. 
 
          2   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          3   Yes, you may do so. 
 
          4   [11.07.07] 
 
          5   BY MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
          6   Q. Mr. Witness, could you please review that sketch, and on the 
 
          7   top part, in the middle, it reads the interrogation site, and 
 
          8   then there were two main buildings, to the east and to the west, 
 
          9   which were noted as prisoner buildings. Can you clarify how many 
 
         10   prisoner's buildings were at the Krang Ta Chan office while you 
 
         11   were working there? 
 
         12   MR. SREI THAN: 
 
         13   A. When I arrived, there were two prisoner's buildings. One was 
 
         14   located near the east and the other one was located near the 
 
         15   west, and the thatch roof had some holes in there. They were not 
 
         16   fully roofed. 
 
         17   Q. Can you tell the Court further conditions of the thatch roof? 
 
         18   You just stated about some holes on the thatch roof. Can you 
 
         19   provide more details, for example, on the walls and the 
 
         20   conditions of other material which was used to make the 
 
         21   buildings? 
 
         22   A. The buildings were made of wood, with wooden planks as walls 
 
         23   and thatch roof. Each building is about 5 metres wide and about 7 
 
         24   metres long. 
 
         25   Q. Were the two buildings of a similar size? 
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          1   [11.09.22] 
 
          2   A. They were similar in size. 
 
          3   Q. How many prisoners could each building house? 
 
          4   A. Each building could accommodate between 50 to 60 prisoners. 
 
          5   Q. Do you know how the prisoners were housed or detained in each 
 
          6   building? 
 
          7   [11.10.12] 
 
          8   A. Prisoners were shackled to their ankles, they were put in a 
 
          9   row and then they would use metal bar to shackle them. 
 
         10   Q. Did you see the marking of any buildings which had later been 
 
         11   dissembled or were you told that there were other previous 
 
         12   buildings before the two buildings that you saw when you arrived? 
 
         13   A. I was not aware of any previous buildings nor did I walk 
 
         14   around to inspect the ground for previous remains of any previous 
 
         15   buildings. 
 
         16   Q. I would like now to turn to your specific duty when you were 
 
         17   moved to guard closer to the compound of Krang Ta Chan office. 
 
         18   You already stated before this Court that occasionally, you were 
 
         19   asked to do the typing by An or Duch. Can you tell the Court the 
 
         20   main role that you performed when you were moved closer to the 
 
         21   office compound? 
 
         22   A. I have already responded to that question. The main duty of 
 
         23   our six men unit was of a military nature and that was our main 
 
         24   duty and over there we provide the guard duty. 
 
         25   [11.12.40] 
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          1   Q. Can you explain to the Court regarding the role that you 
 
          2   performed as a typist to type the names of the list of prisoners 
 
          3   and why were you assigned such supplementary work or duty? 
 
          4   A. In fact we were asked whether any of us were literate and I 
 
          5   responded, "Yes, I could read and write." And there was a 
 
          6   typewriter sitting there and I did not know how long it has been 
 
          7   there and they asked me whether I knew how to type and I 
 
          8   responded, "Yes." Although my typing skills were rather limited, 
 
          9   but I could use the typewriter to an extent. 
 
         10   Q. After you were moved to the District Education Office, can you 
 
         11   inform the Court, how long were -- how long were you posted 
 
         12   closer to the prison compound? 
 
         13   A. I cannot recall the exact time period that I moved closer to 
 
         14   guard near the compound. It was probably around six months 
 
         15   because I left the office around late June or early July 1978. 
 
         16   [11.16.07] 
 
         17   Q. You also stated about your self-mastery stance -- that is, 
 
         18   when you responded to the question by my learned colleague. You 
 
         19   stated that you were assigned by your commander to station at the 
 
         20   Krang Ta Chan office that you had to be self-mastery. I'd like 
 
         21   you to explain to the Court what you meant when you said you had 
 
         22   to have self-mastery stance? 
 
         23   A. While -- even when I was within the army, every soldier or 
 
         24   every one of us had to be self-responsible or self-mastery. We 
 
         25   had to perform any duties assigned to us or we had to stand 
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          1   wherever we were assigned to post. For example, if we were 
 
          2   instructed to stay in a shelter or building, we had to remain 
 
          3   there and not to wander around and that was what I meant by 
 
          4   self-mastery stance. 
 
          5   [11.17.43] 
 
          6   Q. You also stated that you did not know about the nature of work 
 
          7   of other people and that you only minded your own work. Can you 
 
          8   explain to the Court, how did you perform your work by only 
 
          9   focusing on the duties assigned to you. 
 
         10   A. At that time, none of us could ask other members of the unit 
 
         11   about the assignment. For instance, if I was assigned to do 
 
         12   something or to carry out a task, a second man of the unit would 
 
         13   not be able to ask me what assignment was I given to do because 
 
         14   that was my personal assignment and likewise I could not ask 
 
         15   about the nature of assignment for any of the members of the 
 
         16   unit. 
 
         17   Q. What would be end result if somebody violated that principle? 
 
         18   A. At that time we learnt of a saying that "Angkar has eyes 
 
         19   everywhere" and amongst the six of us within the unit if anybody 
 
         20   -- if anyone violated the rule or the principle, the person would 
 
         21   be removed from the unit or would be punished and that was 
 
         22   unavoidable in particular for a soldier. And that soldier would 
 
         23   not be spared if he broke the principle or the rule. 
 
         24   Q. You also stated that during the time that you were stationed 
 
         25   at Krang Ta Chan, none of your commanders came to visit you and 
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          1   that the instructions were only given to you by your direct 
 
          2   military commanders. And as for the Chief of the Krang Ta Chan 
 
          3   office, they could only ask you to do a specific job. Can you 
 
          4   explain to the Court, since we are not clear as to what you refer 
 
          5   to the instructions from the military commander and the request 
 
          6   to perform a specific task by the chief of the prison office? 
 
          7   [11.12.13] 
 
          8   A. Yes, there is a distinction in the two works. One was the 
 
          9   instruction and one was just to use for specific task. The 
 
         10   instruction is relayed from your superior but when you are asked 
 
         11   to perform something it has not to be from your direct superior 
 
         12   it could be from somebody because it was like you were on loan to 
 
         13   perform a specific task. So I only received the orders or the 
 
         14   instructions from my direct military commanders. 
 
         15   Q. What instructions were you given when you were moved from the 
 
         16   outer part to the closer part of the compound, were the 
 
         17   instructions involved in assigning you to watch the prisoners or 
 
         18   to do other tasks within the compound itself? 
 
         19   A. When we were moved to the closer part of the compound, our 
 
         20   main assignment was to guard the compound due to the large number 
 
         21   of prisoners and that was the instruction from my commander -- 
 
         22   from my military commander. So again, our guard duty involved 
 
         23   guarding the compound and not to allow any prisoners to escape 
 
         24   and also to secondly to provide security to the prison staff. 
 
         25   Q. Was the instruction from your military commander or was it 
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          1   from the chief of Krang Ta Chan office, namely Ta An or Duch? 
 
          2   A. It was from my military commander. 
 
          3   Q. In relation to contact with Ta An or with cadres of prison 
 
          4   staff of Krang Ta Chan office, was there any specific instruction 
 
          5   from your military commander in relation to making contact with 
 
          6   the prison staff? 
 
          7   A. No. There was no such instruction. 
 
          8   [11.24.39] 
 
          9   Q. I'd like now to talk again about the prisoners buildings. In 
 
         10   document E3/5522, question-answer 33, a witness named Phann 
 
         11   Chhen, states the following. "The building was about 50 to 60 
 
         12   meter wide and about 90 to 100 meters long." On the contrary you 
 
         13   just stated that, the prison compound was about 200 square 
 
         14   meters. Can you tell the Court the discrepancies in your 
 
         15   statement and the statement made by this witness? 
 
         16   A. Can you be more specific? Do you refer to the actual land 
 
         17   plot? 
 
         18   [11.26.19] 
 
         19   Q. I refer to the size of the compound. 
 
         20   A. As to the size of the compound which was about four hectares 
 
         21   in total, that is the overall size. Although this is my 
 
         22   estimation, it could be a bit more or less. 
 
         23   Q. Can you tell the Court again about the roof of the two 
 
         24   buildings? 
 
         25   A. The roof was made from thatch. 
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          1   Q. From which leaves? 
 
          2   A. It was from palm tree leaves. 
 
          3   [11.27.55] 
 
          4   Q. Mr. President, I would like to give this document to the 
 
          5   Witness with your permission. 
 
          6   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          7   What document, Counsel? Is there a document ID? 
 
          8   MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
          9   Yes, it is but because I extract this one from a document with 
 
         10   the signature of Ta An. 
 
         11   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         12   If that is the case, you can proceed. 
 
         13   BY MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
         14   This is an extract from document E3/4104, Khmer ERN 00270136; and 
 
         15   as this document is a copy from the Khmer version there is no 
 
         16   English translation. And another document is E3/4098, Khmer ERN 
 
         17   00271031; and there is no translation of this document and the 
 
         18   third document is E3/2421, Khmer ERN 00271177; and the fourth 
 
         19   document is E3/2434, and ERN in Khmer is 00270777. I would like 
 
         20   to focus on the signature of An on these four documents. 
 
         21   Q. Mr. Witness, during the time that you worked at Krang Ta Chan 
 
         22   office with An, for instance that you assisted him in typing the 
 
         23   documents, did you ever see the signature of An at that time? 
 
         24   [11.31.02] 
 
         25   MR. SREI THAN: 
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          1   A. I only saw his name when he signed the document with his name 
 
          2   and also I saw Duch's name when he signed the document. 
 
          3   Q. Can you tell the Court again, did you see An's signature 
 
          4   during the time that you worked at Krang Ta Chan office? 
 
          5   A. Yes, I did. 
 
          6   Q. Do you still remember his signature? 
 
          7   A. I cannot remember his signature but I remember the word "An" 
 
          8   when he wrote next to his signature. 
 
          9   Q. Let me clarify with you, you saw An's signature but you simply 
 
         10   cannot recall the form of that signature, am I correct? 
 
         11   A. That is correct. 
 
         12   [11.32.44] 
 
         13   Q. Can you look at the documents that I just handed to you, can 
 
         14   you confirm whether the four signatures on the four separate 
 
         15   documents are similar to An's signature that you saw at that 
 
         16   time? 
 
         17   A. I saw the signature. I cannot say they are identical but they 
 
         18   look similar and as always he wrote his name, An, next to his 
 
         19   signature. 
 
         20   MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
         21   Thank you. Mr. President, I would like now to hand another 
 
         22   document to the witness -- that is, E3/1007. 
 
         23   [11.34.04] 
 
         24   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         25   Counsel, your time expired. 
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          1   MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
          2   May I seek just one more minute, Mr. President? 
 
          3   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          4   Yes, you can proceed. 
 
          5   [11.34.27] 
 
          6   BY MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
          7   Q. Mr. Witness could you look at the red circle on that document, 
 
          8   can you tell the Court whether that is An's signature? 
 
          9   My apology, the ERN of that relevant page in Khmer, ERN 00068049. 
 
         10   As this is the sample of the signature and there is no 
 
         11   translation of this document. Mr. Witness, can you respond to my 
 
         12   question? 
 
         13   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         14   Counsel, can you confirm the document ID again, so that we can 
 
         15   make a proper transcript of the record. 
 
         16   BY MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
 
         17   The document ID is E3/2107. 
 
         18   Q. Mr. Witness, could you look at the signature on the document 
 
         19   that I delivered to you -- that is, the first batch of the 
 
         20   document and the document that I have just given to you, whether 
 
         21   the signature is the same? 
 
         22   MR. SREI THAN: 
 
         23   A. I cannot tell you about the signature in the red circle as I 
 
         24   cannot recognise it. 
 
         25   MR. KONG SAM ONN: 
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          1   I don't have any further questions, Mr. President and it is of 
 
          2   the view that on the issue of the signature, we request the 
 
          3   Chamber to do a forensic analysis of this document in order to 
 
          4   confirm the signature. 
 
          5   [11.37.25] 
 
          6   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          7   Mr. Srei Than, the Chamber is grateful for your time and 
 
          8   testimony and of course your testimony will contribute to 
 
          9   ascertaining the truth in this case. And the time is now 
 
         10   concluded for your testimony and you are now excused so that 
 
         11   return to your residence or wherever you wish to go to and we 
 
         12   wish you a safe journey 
 
         13   And Court officer, in collaboration with WESU, please assist the 
 
         14   necessary transportation of Mr. Srei Than to his place of 
 
         15   residence or wherever he wishes to go to. 
 
         16   The Chamber also thanks the duty council. I note that the 
 
         17   International Lead Co-Lawyer for Civil Parties on her feet. You 
 
         18   may proceed. 
 
         19   Mr. Witness and duty council, you may now leave the room. You may 
 
         20   just wait for a little while. 
 
         21   [11.38.52] 
 
         22   MS. GUIRAUD: 
 
         23   Thank you, Mr. President. A short observation -- that does not 
 
         24   regard this witness, simply to tell the Chamber that we haven't 
 
         25   received the list of documents from the Nuon Chea team. This 
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          1   list, of the 752 documents, that have been uploaded in the 
 
          2   interface for the next witness. If I understood well, the Nuon 
 
          3   Chea team was supposed to provide us with the list of documents 
 
          4   and unless I'm mistaken we still haven't received these documents 
 
          5   so I simply wanted to make the Chamber aware of this and to tell 
 
          6   the Chamber that when you will think about the note that you are 
 
          7   writing about the use of the interface, it is important for us to 
 
          8   receive the documents before we can question witnesses, we would 
 
          9   like to have access to the documents that the defence intends to 
 
         10   use for our preparation when we will examine the witness or the 
 
         11   civil party. 
 
         12   [11.40.15] 
 
         13   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         14   Any comments to make by Nuon Chea's Defence? In fact we, the 
 
         15   Chamber, already takes note of that and defence team for Nuon 
 
         16   Chea, you wish to respond to that comment? You may proceed. 
 
         17   MR. KOPPE: 
 
         18   Yes, Mr. President. Just to be very clear, we didn't upload 700 
 
         19   plus documents. We uploaded about 200 documents. That's because 
 
         20   the rest is translation in three languages. We uploaded 138 
 
         21   documents which are Tram Kak district records, documents that 
 
         22   civil parties should know by now. We uploaded nine documents of 
 
         23   the previous witness and nine documents about the next witness. 
 
         24   We uploaded eight Krang Ta Chan identification reports. We 
 
         25   uploaded written records of investigation of five prisoners and 
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          1   of six cadres. We uploaded another three statements of additional 
 
          2   witnesses including the one that I referred to you yesterday. 
 
          3   These are -- so, roughly around 200 documents, this counts for 
 
          4   about 600 documents in translation. It seems that the remaining 
 
          5   number is because of some flaws in the system. It takes a while 
 
          6   to upload them and the system apparently asks again. So all in 
 
          7   all, 200 extremely relevant documents for both the previous 
 
          8   witness and for this witness, documents again that the civil 
 
          9   parties and surely the prosecution should know by heart. So we 
 
         10   have not uploaded anything extraordinary, we have not did 
 
         11   anything -- done anything to -- I don't know the english word -- 
 
         12   to screw the system. We have been completely in good faith. These 
 
         13   are extremely relevant documents and as of this moment, we are 
 
         14   not able to decide which of the Tram Kak districts records we 
 
         15   will put before this next witness. So, a last remark is that I 
 
         16   deeply resent any suggestions that we have been acting in bad 
 
         17   faith and I would like to clear this picture right now. 
 
         18   [11.43.05] 
 
         19   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         20   Judge Fenz, you can proceed. 
 
         21   JUDGE FENZ: 
 
         22   If you tell us, why, if you are in good faith, you obviously 
 
         23   violated a clear order of the Court. Because yesterday there was 
 
         24   an order following your request by I believe it was to the 
 
         25   prosecutor, to identify the relevant parts, I don't remember you 
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          1   objecting in any way and this morning, you just argued that you 
 
          2   put documents on the case file, sorry on the interface. This 
 
          3   isn't the point. There was an order yesterday, you are aware of 
 
          4   it, why didn't you comply? 
 
          5   [11.43.53] 
 
          6   MR. KOPPE: 
 
          7   Because the 200 documents that we put on the interface are the 
 
          8   documents that we possibly might use for the next witness. So we 
 
          9   can repeat whatever is uploaded on the interface but it might be 
 
         10   worth remembering that we don't have that much staff as 
 
         11   prosecution or even the capacity to just send an email repeating 
 
         12   all those 200 documents, we simply are unable to. So the 
 
         13   situation is that we've uploaded 200 very relevant documents and 
 
         14   that we intend to use them possibly with the next witness. That's 
 
         15   the situation. 
 
         16   [11.44.38] 
 
         17   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         18   Counsel Koppe, can you inform the Chamber during the time that 
 
         19   you question the next witness that a Party is given a morning 
 
         20   session or in your case may be a afternoon session, and whether 
 
         21   you will use all those 200 plus documents that you uploaded on 
 
         22   the interface? Will you use all those documents? 
 
         23   MR. KOPPE: 
 
         24   Again, Mr. President, this is not our witness the next witness is 
 
         25   -- we are not doing the examination-in-chief, we are relying on 
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          1   his answers and his answer might give us -- give rise to us to 
 
          2   use one of those 138 Tram Kak district documents, for instance. 
 
          3   The whole point is not to confuse anybody. These documents are 
 
          4   very well known. Everybody should have read them by now and we 
 
          5   would like to have the opportunity to confront the next witness 
 
          6   with documents from the Tram Kak district records. The same goes 
 
          7   for the statements of the prisoners in Krang Ta Chan, the same 
 
          8   goes for cadres within Krang Ta Chan. So that's the liberty that 
 
          9   we should have and if you want to have an email repeating exactly 
 
         10   those 200 documents then fine but I don't really see the point of 
 
         11   it. 
 
         12   [11.46.09] 
 
         13   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         14   Let both of you be on your feet one after another and now you 
 
         15   just decide which one to go first. Let's do it now. 
 
         16   MS. GUIRAUD: 
 
         17   Mr. President, a small reaction. I don't want him to infer that 
 
         18   we do not know the document relevant to Tram Kak and Krang Ta 
 
         19   Chan. The problem is not that we do not know these documents, the 
 
         20   problem is how we're going to use the interface and how the 
 
         21   Parties exchange the documents they're going to use during the 
 
         22   proceedings. Everyone is doing their job and we're doing our job 
 
         23   and it's not up to you to tell us whether or not we're are doing 
 
         24   our job but the problem is that we have an interface and we have 
 
         25   to respect the principles of an adversarial debate and we have to 
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          1   be notified in advance of the documents that are going to be used 
 
          2   by other Parties, given the enormous volumes of documents in this 
 
          3   case. So, the Chamber is going to have to take position. So 
 
          4   should we consider that at the approach of each segment, all 
 
          5   documents relevant to that segment are considered as placed 
 
          6   before the Chamber and therefore the Parties will be able to 
 
          7   refer to these documents without being notified in advance or do 
 
          8   we stick to the ancient system by which systematically we upload 
 
          9   on to the interface, 48 hours in advance, the documents that we 
 
         10   intend to use during the examination of such and such witness or 
 
         11   such and such civil party. Obviously when we know the documents 
 
         12   that are potentially used by the defence, we of course prepare 
 
         13   ourselves, we prepare our questions in a different way and it's 
 
         14   exactly the same thing for the defence. As long as we are aware 
 
         15   of the documents that possibly will be used by one Party or the 
 
         16   other, this obviously is going to be part of the strategy we're 
 
         17   going to adopt. So this is why we're asking you to clarify the 
 
         18   situation once again so that we're much more aware of what's 
 
         19   going to happen during the forthcoming segments. 
 
         20   [11.48.33] 
 
         21   MR. LYSAK: 
 
         22   Let me echo that, Mr. President. The point here is not whether 
 
         23   we're familiar with these documents, we are of course. The point 
 
         24   is that the interface is a means to give good faith notice to the 
 
         25   Court and the other Parties of the documents you intend to use in 
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          1   the examination of a witness. Counsel cannot possibly in good 
 
          2   faith believe he is going to use 200 documents. As we saw 
 
          3   yesterday after posting, probably the exact same documents if we 
 
          4   checked, he used only 15. This simply not good faith, this is 
 
          5   subterfuge, trying to hide the documents that are used. Counsel 
 
          6   thinks this is good faith, he doesn't understand what that means. 
 
          7   [11.49.24] 
 
          8   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          9   On this issue the Chamber already received requests and 
 
         10   submissions from concerned Parties since yesterday, since last 
 
         11   week. Due to the complexity and the sheer scope of the case, the 
 
         12   Chamber actually issued an instruction or decision in Case 002/01 
 
         13   and we are now trying to see what kind of the paragraphs of that 
 
         14   decision are still applicable to the current case and what 
 
         15   addition should we make. And in fact we drafted it already and it 
 
         16   takes a little bit of time for the Bench to deliberate on it, 
 
         17   probably during this weekend. And for that reason we try to 
 
         18   minimise any impact during this time before the testimonies of 
 
         19   the witness here before this Court until the time that we issue 
 
         20   our decision. 
 
         21   [11.50.56] 
 
         22   Anyhow, the time is now appropriate for lunch break and we will 
 
         23   take a break now and we will return at 1.30 to hear the testimony 
 
         24   of witness, 2-TCW-852. 
 
         25   And security personnel, you are instructed to take Khieu Samphan 
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          1   to the waiting room downstairs and bring him back into the Court 
 
          2   room before 1.30. 
 
          3   The Court is now in recess. 
 
          4   (Court recesses from 1151H to 1339H) 
 
          5   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          6   Please be seated. The Court is now in session. 
 
          7   For this afternoon we will hear the testimony of witness with the 
 
          8   pseudonym of 2-TCW-5 -- rather 852. And before calling the 
 
          9   witness into the courtroom, the Trial Chamber wishes to inform 
 
         10   the Parties and the public that on the 17th of April -- February 
 
         11   2015, by e-mail, the Trial Chamber will not hear -- will not 
 
         12   conduct hearing on the 26th of February afternoon, and on the 2nd 
 
         13   of March 2015, so that the Parties have an opportunity to look at 
 
         14   the new documents proposed by the OCP, including 90 records of 
 
         15   witness interview including 1600 and 1400 and also in French much 
 
         16   more pages. 
 
         17   The Trial Chamber found that Defence Counsel and the Lead 
 
         18   Co-Lawyer for the Civil Party should be given more additional 
 
         19   time so that they can look at those documents before proceed with 
 
         20   the second phase of the hearing, the work sites. 
 
         21   [13.41.28] 
 
         22   And the Trial Chamber will continue to hear witness 2-TCW-852, 
 
         23   tomorrow due to his old age and his difficulty for travelling to 
 
         24   the Court and back to his residence next week. It is a little 
 
         25   different from our scheduling order and it is required that the 
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          1   Trial Chamber will conduct the hearing on the afternoon of the 
 
          2   25th of February, and the Chamber will continue on the morning of 
 
          3   the 3rd of March 2015, so that the Parties shall have sufficient 
 
          4   time to look and study the newly posted documents. And on the 
 
          5   15th of February 2015, full day and on the 3rd of March, we will 
 
          6   conduct the hearing for one morning. 
 
          7   (Judges deliberate) 
 
          8   [13.43.32] 
 
          9   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         10   Judge Lavergne, you may proceed. 
 
         11   JUDGE LAVERGNE: 
 
         12   Yes. Thank you, Mr. President. In order to clarify the decision 
 
         13   of the Chamber, because it may well be that some details were 
 
         14   lost in translation, the Chamber will continue to hear the 
 
         15   witness who is supposed to appear this afternoon up to tomorrow 
 
         16   evening. Then we will resume hearings on the 3rd of March, only 
 
         17   in the afternoon, so the morning of the 3rd of March, will also 
 
         18   be placed at the disposal of Parties in order for them to be able 
 
         19   to review the documents. 
 
         20   [13.44.22] 
 
         21   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         22   Thank you, Judge Lavergne. Now we have a clear decision because 
 
         23   our previous schedule was on the morning, but we keep only in the 
 
         24   afternoon. And we will look at the request by the National 
 
         25   Council of Mr. Khieu Samphan, to have a forensic examination of 
 

E1/268.101071166



Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia 
Trial Chamber – Trial Day 249                                   
Case No. 002/19-09-2007-ECCC/TC 
24/02/2015 

Page 53 

 
 
                                                          53 
 
          1   the signature and the Trial Chamber would like you to submit a 
 
          2   written request with the reasoning, indicating clear -- clearly 
 
          3   your ground and the purpose of your request. 
 
          4   And court officer is now instructed to bring the witness to the 
 
          5   witness stand before the Chamber. 
 
          6   (Witness enters courtroom) 
 
          7   [13.47.12] 
 
          8   QUESTIONING BY THE PRESIDENT: 
 
          9   Good afternoon, Mr. Witness. 
 
         10   Q. What is your name? 
 
         11   MR. PHANN CHHEN: 
 
         12   A. Mr. President, my name is Phann Chhen. 
 
         13   Q. Thank you, Mr. Phann Chhen. What is your date of birth? Can 
 
         14   you tell the Court? 
 
         15   A. I was born in 1932. 
 
         16   Q. Thank you. What is your current address? 
 
         17   A. I am living in Oddar Meanchey province. 
 
         18   [13.48.05] 
 
         19   Q. What is your occupation currently? 
 
         20   A. I am retired. I don't do anything. 
 
         21   Q. What is your parent's name, your mother and your father's 
 
         22   name? 
 
         23   A. My father is Lak Phan, and my mother is Tim Chuon. 
 
         24   Q. Thank you. What is your spouse's name, and how many children 
 
         25   do you have? 
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          1   A. My wife is Roat Sen. I have one child. 
 
          2   Q. Thank you, Mr. Phann Chhen. The greffier made an oral report 
 
          3   that your -- to your best knowledge, none of your father, mother 
 
          4   ascendants, children or descendants, brothers, sister-in-laws or 
 
          5   wife is admitted as civil party in Case 002. Is this information 
 
          6   correct? 
 
          7   A. Yes, correct. 
 
          8   [13.49.41] 
 
          9   Q. Thank you. And the Greffier also reported that you have taken 
 
         10   an oath before you entered this Court that this afternoon. Is 
 
         11   this correct? 
 
         12   A. Yes, correct. 
 
         13   [13.49.59] 
 
         14   Q. The Chamber would like to inform you of your rights and 
 
         15   obligations as a witness. Your rights as a witness in the 
 
         16   proceedings before the Chamber, you may refuse to respond to any 
 
         17   question or to make any comment which may incriminate you. That 
 
         18   is your right against self-incrimination. This means that you may 
 
         19   refuse to provide your response or make any comment that could 
 
         20   lead you to being prosecuted. Your obligation, as a witness in 
 
         21   the proceedings before the Chamber, you must respond to any 
 
         22   questions by the Bench or relevant Parties, except where your 
 
         23   response or comment to make those questions -- to those questions 
 
         24   may incriminate you, as the Chamber -- as the Chamber has just 
 
         25   informed you of the right as a witness. You must tell the truth 
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          1   that you have known, heard, seen, remembered, experienced or 
 
          2   observed directly about the -- an event or occurrence relevant to 
 
          3   the questions that the Bench or the Parties post to you. 
 
          4   Mr. Phann Chhen, have you gave any interview or testimony to the 
 
          5   investigator of the OCIJ in the past? If so, how many interviews 
 
          6   and where you gave interview? Do you remember this? 
 
          7   A. I gave four occasion of interview at Anlong Veaeng, at my 
 
          8   current address. 
 
          9   Q. Do you remember when was it for each interview? 
 
         10   A. Two interview in 2009, and in 2000 -- in 2001 interview, and I 
 
         11   don't remember another. 
 
         12   Q. Is it 2001 or 2011? 
 
         13   A. 2011. 
 
         14   [13.52.42] 
 
         15   Q. Thank you. And before you entered into the courtroom, have you 
 
         16   read the minutes -- minute of interview when you gave interview 
 
         17   to the investigators of the OCIJ to refresh your memory? 
 
         18   A. I have read, but due to my old age I cannot remember 
 
         19   everything. 
 
         20   [13.53.16] 
 
         21   Q. To the best of your memory and your knowledge, those records 
 
         22   of the witness interview, their contents are reflecting your 
 
         23   statement, your answers that you gave during those interviews to 
 
         24   the investigators? 
 
         25   A. Yes, there were many contents are correct, but some of them 
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          1   are incorrect. 
 
          2   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          3   Thank you, Mr. Witness. 
 
          4   You have made a request for the duty counsel during your 
 
          5   testimony before the Chamber. Previously, the Witness and Expert 
 
          6   Support Unit assigned Mr. Moeurn Sovann as your duty counsel, and 
 
          7   he's not available today, and WESU assigned Mr. Duch Phary as 
 
          8   your duty counsel for this afternoon when you give testimony to 
 
          9   the Chamber. 
 
         10   The Trial Chamber would now like to hand the floor to the -- to 
 
         11   the OCP to put questions to the witness under Internal Rule 
 
         12   91bis. And the OCP and the Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers will have 
 
         13   one session this afternoon, plus another session of tomorrow. 
 
         14   Yes, now you may have the floor, Prosecutor. 
 
         15   QUESTIONING BY MR. SREA RATTANAK: 
 
         16   Your Honours, Parties and the public and good afternoon, Witness. 
 
         17   My name is Srea Rattanak. I am the National Co-Prosecutor of the 
 
         18   ECCC. 
 
         19   Q. I will ask you questions as regards the Kraing Ta Chan 
 
         20   security centre. And my first question for you is that before the 
 
         21   17 of April 1975, where did you live? 
 
         22   MR. PHANN CHHEN: 
 
         23   A. Before this event in April 1975, I was living in Chamkar Kausu 
 
         24   Chup. It's a Chup rubber plantation. 
 
         25   Q. Before you went to work at Chup rubber plantation, what was 
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          1   your position before that? 
 
          2   A. I was the supervisor of worker at the rubber plantation. 
 
          3   [13.56.34] 
 
          4   Q. I would like to ask you the time before you went to work in 
 
          5   Chup rubber plantation, and what did you do? Where -- where were 
 
          6   you then? 
 
          7   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          8   Mr. Phann Chhen, please wait a moment, so that you can give the 
 
          9   gap in time for the interpretation to render your response so 
 
         10   that we can have a good record for the Court. You should wait 
 
         11   until the microphone is activated. You can see the red light on 
 
         12   the microphone. 
 
         13   MR. PHANN CHHEN: 
 
         14   A. I am sorry. I would like to repeat. Before that, I was living 
 
         15   in Phnom Penh. 
 
         16   BY MR. SREA RATTANAK: 
 
         17   [13.58.01] 
 
         18   Q. How long have you lived in Phnom Penh after 1975? 
 
         19   A. I was living in Phnom Penh during the 1950s. 
 
         20   Q. If I am not mistaken, you were living in Phnom Penh all the 
 
         21   ways since the 1950s until 1975, and then you were assigned to 
 
         22   work at the Chup rubber plantation. Is this correct? 
 
         23   A. I left Phnom Penh in 1959 to work at the Chup rubber 
 
         24   plantation. 
 
         25   Q. Did you ever live -- live in Takeo province before? 
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          1   A. I was born in this province. I used to live in this province. 
 
          2   Q. From 1950 through 1975, before you move and work in Chup 
 
          3   rubber plantation, were you living in Takeo province? 
 
          4   A. Yes, I did. 
 
          5   [13.59.59] 
 
          6   Q. In -- in what year? 
 
          7   A. It was in 1970. 
 
          8   Q. From 1970 until which year you were living in this province? 
 
          9   A. From 1970 until 1973. 
 
         10   Q. And what did you do after 1973, and where? 
 
         11   A. In 1974, I moved to live in Kampong Speu province. 
 
         12   [14.01.48] 
 
         13   Q. And later? 
 
         14   A. Later I was living in Samraong of Kampong Speu. 
 
         15   Q. I would like you to indicate the year and place where you were 
 
         16   living? 
 
         17   A. In 1974, 1975, I was still living in Kampong Speu province. 
 
         18   Q. So during 1970 until 1973, the time when you were living in 
 
         19   Takeo province, what did you do? Could you briefly describe your 
 
         20   main roles and duty? 
 
         21   A. I used to be a village chief and also a commune chief. 
 
         22   Q. Could you please be specific on village chief of what village 
 
         23   and commune chief of what commune, which year? 
 
         24   A. From 1970, I was a chief of Pong Tuek Tboung village in Kus 
 
         25   commune, and '72, I was the chief of Kus commune. 
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          1   Q. How long have you been a chief of the commune from '72 until 
 
          2   what year? 
 
          3   A. From 1972 until mid-1973, I was working for the refugee 
 
          4   committee who -- to work with the refugee who came from different 
 
          5   area. 
 
          6   Q. And where was it? 
 
          7   A. It was somewhere in Tram Kak district that people fled from 
 
          8   different direction in the province to Tram Kak. 
 
          9   Q. As you were a commune chief, what were your duties and role at 
 
         10   that time? 
 
         11   A. As a commune chief, I was in charge of social activity and 
 
         12   culture, and I was in charge of teaching. 
 
         13   Q. What was your task? 
 
         14   A. I gave teachers skill training at the villages and I taught 
 
         15   students and also taught villager to do rice farming to promote 
 
         16   their living conditions. 
 
         17   [14.04.40] 
 
         18   Q. In your interview to the OCIJ, document E3/5522, ERN in 
 
         19   English 0042 283; ERN in Khmer 00414484; and French ERN 00436902; 
 
         20   you said that, "As a commune chief when there was a plan from the 
 
         21   upper echelon, I was assigned to organize meeting at the 
 
         22   different villages and there was 33 communes, but not all the 
 
         23   commune was organised. We organize only 10 commune." 
 
         24   Q. Were these activity performed by you at that time? 
 
         25   A. Yes, they were my -- they were part of my activities. 
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          1   Q. Can you recall the 10 villages of the Kus commune? So what are 
 
          2   those 10 village in Kus commune? 
 
          3   [14.06.16] 
 
          4   A. I remember some of them. My work at that time was the village 
 
          5   where there was a jungle, so that we can hide ourselves from the 
 
          6   airplane bombing so that we can convene meeting of village chief, 
 
          7   and people. 
 
          8   Q. Among the 10 villages, can you tell the Court one or two or 
 
          9   more than that, to the Court to  --base your -- based on your 
 
         10   memory? I am not expecting the 10 village in your memory, but any 
 
         11   of the 10, can you please tell the Court? 
 
         12   A. The first village was Tonsaong Rou village, Chheu Teal Thkoul 
 
         13   village, Ta Leak -- Ta Leak village, Pong Tuek Tboung village. 
 
         14   That's all I -- I can recall. I forget the others. 
 
         15   [14.07.40] 
 
         16   Q. In my quote on answer 12, I read it to you earlier in document 
 
         17   E3/5522, English ERN 00426 -- correction, Khmer ERN 00414482; you 
 
         18   said that are among those activity include my activity at Krang 
 
         19   Ta Chan. Is this your correct answer? 
 
         20   A. Yes, it is correct. 
 
         21   Q. With regard to the organization of those villages, were all 
 
         22   the village still under the management of the previous commune, 
 
         23   or were they belong or under any other separate management after 
 
         24   that? 
 
         25   A. Since mid-1973, the district took control of those villages, 
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          1   the villages where I organized meeting. 
 
          2   Q. Were all the 10 villages controlled by the district or only a 
 
          3   number of village among them? 
 
          4   A. It's only the place where we convene when we would convene 
 
          5   meeting. 
 
          6   [14.09.13] 
 
          7   Q. Let me repeat my question. Maybe you could not understand. So 
 
          8   you organize a meeting at one place for each villages. Among them 
 
          9   Krang Ta Chan was also under your jurisdiction of organizing 
 
         10   meeting, and later the village was taken away from the commune or 
 
         11   -- I am focusing on the place where your meeting was conducting. 
 
         12   Was it still under the previous management or organization, or 
 
         13   was it taken by any other entity? 
 
         14   A. It was only Krang Ta Chan was taken away from the existing 
 
         15   structure in 1973. 
 
         16   Q. What was the purpose of taken from the old management? 
 
         17   A. It was taken for using as the security centre. 
 
         18   [14.10.40] 
 
         19   Q: What do you mean by security centre? Can you use a more 
 
         20   simpler words for our purpose now? 
 
         21   A: It was said -- it was called that a place for re-education for 
 
         22   anyone who commit any wrongdoing. 
 
         23   Q: Could you please be more clearer? Re-education, in your terms, 
 
         24   for those who have an offence, who committed an offence. You can 
 
         25   use a more simpler word so that we can have a better 
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          1   understanding. 
 
          2   A: It was perceived that people were taken to the place to 
 
          3   re-educate them from doing any mistake in the future. 
 
          4   Q: Krang Ta Chan previously was under the commune management and 
 
          5   later was taken away. And who made the decision to do that and 
 
          6   who took control after the previous commune? 
 
          7   [14.12.09] 
 
          8   A: The district office who did that. The decision was made at the 
 
          9   district level for that purpose. 
 
         10   Q: Do you recall, who was the chief of that security centre? 
 
         11   A: The person from the district. 
 
         12   Q: Do you recall the people in the management or in the 
 
         13   management structure of Krang Ta Chan? 
 
         14   A: Yes, there were Phy, An, Penh, Cheng, Chhon (phonetic). 
 
         15   Q: Who was the last? 
 
         16   A: The last one was Chhon (phonetic). 
 
         17   Q: Were you ever being a chief at that place? 
 
         18   A: No, never. 
 
         19   [14.14.13] 
 
         20   Q: Before the Office of the Co-Investigating Judge, under 
 
         21   document E3/72, question and answer 51, you said that: "An became 
 
         22   my deputy since the creation of Krang Ta Chan centre in 1972. The 
 
         23   district sent An to work with me. I was from the commune, so I 
 
         24   can enter the centre at the time." 
 
         25   So, what can you say to the Court, now that you said that An was 
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          1   your assistant or your deputy? What do you mean by your phrase I 
 
          2   have just quoted from your statement earlier? 
 
          3   A: I would like to consult with my duty counsel before I respond 
 
          4   to this question. 
 
          5   (Short pause) 
 
          6   [14.16.45] 
 
          7   A: So, I would like to continue my response. In my previous 
 
          8   response, I am not referring to Krang Ta Chan. I said that An and 
 
          9   me used to work from the lower level when we were doing in the 
 
         10   education and the people at Krang Ta Chan were assigned -- 
 
         11   appointed by the district office. No commune or village made any 
 
         12   decision to appoint people to work at Krang Ta Chan. People in 
 
         13   the lower level, has no authority to make such appointment. 
 
         14   Q: I would like to mention this again. Maybe you don't understand 
 
         15   well my question. In your previous response, based on my quote 
 
         16   earlier, in document E3/72, you said that "An was my deputy since 
 
         17   the creation of the security centre." So it is clear on the face 
 
         18   of this document you refer to Krang Ta Chan, and I would like you 
 
         19   to explain to the Court if you said that "An was my deputy", what 
 
         20   do you mean by this phrase? 
 
         21   [14.18.29] 
 
         22   A: I would like to consult with my duty counsel once again. 
 
         23   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         24   You may proceed. 
 
         25   (Short pause) 
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          1   [14.20.20] 
 
          2   A: I would like to respond to the Chamber that the cadres who 
 
          3   work in different section, no matter where they are work, they 
 
          4   have to come for meeting twice a month. So, the chief of the 
 
          5   monthly meeting and the chairman to assign some people for that, 
 
          6   and I was assigned to chair the monthly meeting when we organize 
 
          7   a criticism and self-criticism meeting. Maybe I was confused 
 
          8   referring to this activity. Maybe on the minute of witness 
 
          9   interview I read yesterday and after that some of the responses 
 
         10   are not reflect or correct as I gave to the interviewer. 
 
         11   Q: At that time, did you ever visit Krang Ta Chan or enter and 
 
         12   then visit at any time -- any point in time? 
 
         13   A: When I was still in the commune, I supply food and rice to the 
 
         14   centre for the staff at that centre. 
 
         15   Q: My question is that have you ever visited or have you ever 
 
         16   entered Krang Ta Chan for any purpose? 
 
         17   A: Yes, I visited to supply -- to give food supplies for the 
 
         18   people there. 
 
         19   Q: Based on your observation when you visited, how large was the 
 
         20   centre and how many buildings were there in that centre? 
 
         21   A: There were two buildings. The size was five metre by six metre 
 
         22   long. 
 
         23   Q: Could you please be specific? I will ask one question at a 
 
         24   time. Based on your estimates or your calculation of the size, 
 
         25   what was the size of the building? 
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          1   A: Are you talking about the perimeter of the compound? It was 
 
          2   probably hundred metres by hundred metres. 
 
          3   [14.23.59] 
 
          4   Q: How many buildings were there? 
 
          5   A: There were two buildings. 
 
          6   Q: Can you describe the appearance of the building? What was it 
 
          7   built -- constructed from? The location of each building as 
 
          8   regard the compound or perimeter and what are the kind of the 
 
          9   buildings or category? Can you tell the Court about that? 
 
         10   A: Yes. 
 
         11   Q: And how many building and what they were constructed of? 
 
         12   [14.25.02] 
 
         13   A: When I visited, there were two buildings, wooden buildings 
 
         14   with a tile roof. 
 
         15   Q: I would like to remind you again that your response to the 
 
         16   OCIJ on document E3/552, question and answer 22, you said that 
 
         17   before Krang Ta Chan became the district entity, it was built in 
 
         18   the jungle so that no one can approach -- can see. And on the 
 
         19   same document, before the district came to control, there was no 
 
         20   fence, but later when the district came to take control, barbed 
 
         21   wire was built and there was a wooden pole were used part of the 
 
         22   fence. And on the same document, you said that another building 
 
         23   was build and barbed wire was built in a grid shed so that they 
 
         24   can protect any prisoner from escape. This is the correct quote? 
 
         25   This is my correct quote from your statement? 
 

E1/268.101071179



Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia 
Trial Chamber – Trial Day 249                                   
Case No. 002/19-09-2007-ECCC/TC 
24/02/2015 

Page 66 

 
 
                                                          66 
 
          1   A: Yes, correct. 
 
          2   Q: Apart from the two long buildings for the prisoners, was there 
 
          3   any other building for interrogation purpose? 
 
          4   A: After I left that place, I don't know anything, because I left 
 
          5   and stay far away from that place. 
 
          6   Q: Talking about the prisoners, do you know what mistake or what 
 
          7   offence were they committing before they were ending up in that 
 
          8   security centre? 
 
          9   A: No, I don't know. 
 
         10   [14.27.49] 
 
         11   Q: Before the Co-Investigating Judges, you said in document 
 
         12   E3/5522, question and answer 53, you said that "The prisoners, 
 
         13   most of them were accused of the associate of the other parties 
 
         14   -- other side. Before they said that they were KBG, CIA agent and 
 
         15   White Khmer and they were arrested and sent to Krang Ta Chan for 
 
         16   detention." Are these the responses you made earlier to the OCIJ? 
 
         17   A: Yes, it is true, but I told the interviewer, I told them that 
 
         18   I know not related to Krang Ta Chan, but the arrest of other 
 
         19   people, they were accused of the same accusation you have just 
 
         20   mentioned. 
 
         21   [14.29.04] 
 
         22   Q: In another case, I would like to discuss about the condition 
 
         23   at the security centre. And how many prisoner were there when you 
 
         24   visited at that centre? 
 
         25   A: There were only about four or five prisoners in 1973, and the 
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          1   most would be 10. 
 
          2   Q: What was your observation regarding the condition of those 
 
          3   prisoners? Were those prisoners chained? 
 
          4   A: Sometimes they were, yes. 
 
          5   Q: Can you be more specific? When would they be chained or were 
 
          6   they also shackled or handcuffed? Can you provide further 
 
          7   details? 
 
          8   A: They were shackled. 
 
          9   Q: Were the shackles used for all prisoners? 
 
         10   A: For light offense prisoners, they were not shackled, but for 
 
         11   serious offense prisoners, they were. 
 
         12   Q: What were the shackles made of or made from? 
 
         13   A: They were made of metal. 
 
         14   Q: Also on the condition of the prisoners, what was your 
 
         15   observation, I mean their physical condition and the food? 
 
         16   A: During the brief period that I was there, since there were few 
 
         17   prisoners, they were fed properly. 
 
         18   MR. SREA RATTANAK: 
 
         19   I don't have any further questions for this witness, and my 
 
         20   international colleague will take the floor. Thank you. 
 
         21   [14.32.07] 
 
         22   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         23   Yes, the Deputy International Co-Prosecutor, you have the floor. 
 
         24   QUESTIONING BY MR. LYSAK: 
 
         25   Thank you, Mr. President. Good afternoon, Mr. Witness. 
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          1   I want to go back to the issue of what your role was at Krang Ta 
 
          2   Chan. I've read all of your statements, and I want to bring to 
 
          3   your attention some statements from some other witnesses who have 
 
          4   discussed you. 
 
          5   [14.33.11] 
 
          6   A person named Chim, who was the former secretary of Tram Kak 
 
          7   district, a man I believe you worked for and know very well, 
 
          8   testified that you were the chief of Krang Ta Chan security 
 
          9   office. This was at E3/4646 (sic), Khmer 00373466, English 
 
         10   00380134, French 00426204. And Chim also testified, this was in 
 
         11   interview E3/5786, at answer 48, that during the time you were 
 
         12   Krang Ta Cham chairman, you reported to him and to the district 
 
         13   office, including about the number of prisoners and the 
 
         14   transferring of prisoners to be put in the Krang Ta Chan centre. 
 
         15   We've also heard in this trial from a former prisoner, Say Sen, 
 
         16   someone I believe you know. In his OCIJ statement E319.1.24, 
 
         17   answers 12 through 17, he testified: 
 
         18   "The chief of the prison was Ta Chhen. It was called the 
 
         19   re-education office back then." Question: "Are you referring to 
 
         20   the Krang Ta Chan security office?" 
 
         21   Answer: "Yes". 
 
         22   Question: "What was his position? 
 
         23   Answer: "He was chief of the re-education office." 
 
         24   Question: "Before holding that position, what did he do?" 
 
         25   Answer: "He had been the chief of Kus commune before he became 
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          1   the prison chief." End of quote. 
 
          2   [14.35.21] 
 
          3   And I would remind you also of another statement that you made 
 
          4   yourself to OCIJ investigators, in interview E372, at answer 58, 
 
          5   the question was, "Before 1972, can it be said that you were the 
 
          6   chief of Krang Ta Chan office and the chief of Kus commune?" Your 
 
          7   answer was, "Yes, you can say so. At that time I held two 
 
          8   positions." 
 
          9   Now, I understand that there may be an issue about whether you 
 
         10   were officially appointed to any position. You had your title as 
 
         11   commune chief. 
 
         12   [14.36.06] 
 
         13   Q. Having heard what your former superior, the district secretary 
 
         14   said, what a detainee said, would you agree with me that in 
 
         15   effect you were the initial chief of this office and you were 
 
         16   perceived by the people who dealt with the prison to be the head 
 
         17   of that office? 
 
         18   MR. PHANN CHHEN: 
 
         19   A. The statements you read out are mostly untrue. 
 
         20   Q: What do you mean that they're mostly untrue? 
 
         21   A: I meant that Chim, the district committee, never received any 
 
         22   report from me on the Krang Ta Chan prison. I actually left in 
 
         23   1973 when they transformed it into a prison. So, for that reason, 
 
         24   how could I make a report to him after that period? I think you 
 
         25   can make your own judgement on this issue. 
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          1   [14.37.40] 
 
          2   Q: Let me turn to an issue regarding the number of prisoners who 
 
          3   were at Krang Ta Chan. You've indicated that in 1973 when you 
 
          4   visited the site, there were at most 10 prisoners. Let me read an 
 
          5   excerpt from your OCIJ interview E3/5522, answer 55 (sic). You 
 
          6   testified as follows. 
 
          7   Question: "How many prisoners were in the Krang Ta Chan office in 
 
          8   1974?" 
 
          9   Answer: "I estimate that in 1974 there were not yet very many. 
 
         10   But in 1974 there began to be many." 
 
         11   Continuing down further: "After I was gone, people say that lines 
 
         12   of people were brought into the office." 
 
         13   Question: "When you say lines of people what do you mean?" 
 
         14   Answer: "They brought in lines, strings, meaning they were all 
 
         15   tied up." 
 
         16   [14.39.09] 
 
         17   And in interview E3/5524, answers 42 through 45, you described 
 
         18   how you returned to visit Krang Ta Chan in 1975 after you had 
 
         19   left the security office. And you were asked how the prison had 
 
         20   changed and this is what you said, quote, "The site had not 
 
         21   expanded, but there were more prisoners than before. There were 
 
         22   probably hundreds of prisoners there." End of quote. 
 
         23   Do you remember coming back to Krang Ta Chan in 1975 and can you 
 
         24   tell us why you were there and what you observed? 
 
         25   [14.40.00] 
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          1   A: I'd like to clarify this issue. I in fact, stated to the 
 
          2   investigator that I did not know everything about the upper 
 
          3   level. Then the investigator asked me to tell him whatever I know 
 
          4   of the number of prisoners. And then I told him that I could only 
 
          5   tell them as an indirect information, because I was not there. 
 
          6   And, in fact, I was asked repeatedly for details of the situation 
 
          7   at the office, and as I told you, I had left and I only learned 
 
          8   from the people on the many number of people who had been sent 
 
          9   there, but as to the actual number, I did not know the details. 
 
         10   And although I spoke about the number, I was not physically 
 
         11   there. And that's what I told the investigator, as I -- that's 
 
         12   the second-hand information that I received. It's not first-hand 
 
         13   information, as I was far away from the office. I was transferred 
 
         14   to Kampong Speu, to the west of Damrei Romeal mountain. It means 
 
         15   the distance was crossing three different provinces, and I was 
 
         16   busy working there clearing the land to build a dam for the 
 
         17   people, and I would not know the details of what happened in that 
 
         18   office. 
 
         19   Q: I understand that you left Krang Ta Chan in 1973 and you went 
 
         20   to a different location. Did you return to Kus commune and make a 
 
         21   visit to Krang Ta Chan in 1975? 
 
         22   [14.42.23] 
 
         23   A: My native village was near Angk Metrei pagoda. It took me one 
 
         24   whole day to ride my bicycle to reach the village, and I did not 
 
         25   stay there for long, I only asked some people around. And I did 
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          1   not know the actual details or any secret information or 
 
          2   confidential information regarding the centre there. 
 
          3   Q: My question was when you came back to your home village in 
 
          4   '75, did you visit the Krang Ta Chan office? 
 
          5   A: I did not go to visit the area. I met briefly with people 
 
          6   outside, I mean those people who worked in there. 
 
          7   [14.43.51] 
 
          8   Q: Your home village was Pong Tuek. How far was that from Krang 
 
          9   Ta Chan? 
 
         10   A: The distance was about 10 kilometres. 
 
         11   Q: Let me turn to another subject. In interview E3/5522, and 
 
         12   understand that the questions I'm going to ask you now are about 
 
         13   the period in 1973 where you've testified that you visited the 
 
         14   Krang Ta Chan office, and would go there to take supplies. So, 
 
         15   I'm asking you now about 1973. 
 
         16   And, in your OCIJ interview, you provided the following 
 
         17   testimony, at E3/5522, answers 35 to 36. 
 
         18   Question: "The interrogation site was inside the office compound. 
 
         19   It was a small building at the south corner of the office. The 
 
         20   interrogation building was open and was square, about 1.5 metres 
 
         21   on each side, thatch roofed and there were no walls." End of 
 
         22   quote 
 
         23   My question to you is, is that an accurate description of the 
 
         24   interrogation site that was built when Krang Ta Chan was 
 
         25   converted from a meeting place to a security office in 1973? 
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          1   A: Yes, that is correct. 
 
          2   [14.45.59] 
 
          3   Q: And, in your OCIJ interview E3/5524, at answers 29 through 
 
          4   answer 30, you were read an excerpt from Say Sen's interview, who 
 
          5   was described to you just as a former detainee, an excerpt in 
 
          6   which he described how you were present during his interrogation. 
 
          7   You admitted to the OCIJ investigators your presence during 
 
          8   interrogations and in the next answer, you gave the following 
 
          9   testimony. 
 
         10   Question: "Do you remember if you ever participated in the 
 
         11   interrogation of anyone?" 
 
         12   Answer: "I did participate. As for my participation, that was 
 
         13   only to listen, and An was the recorder." 
 
         14   Then in the next answers, answers 32 to 35, you gave the 
 
         15   following testimony about the interrogation methods that were 
 
         16   used by the interrogators at Krang Ta Chan: 
 
         17   [14.47.27] 
 
         18   "Phy was the interrogator and An was the recorder. When Phy 
 
         19   questioned and the prisoner did not respond, Phy was the person 
 
         20   who used hot or cold methods to get the responses. Phy was the 
 
         21   person who received the instructions to interrogate prisoners." 
 
         22   Question: "From whom did Phy receive instructions on 
 
         23   interrogation methods?" 
 
         24   Answer: "From the sector and the district." 
 
         25   And then continuing in the next response, quote: 
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          1   "Cold methods were pleading, coaxing, trickery, ruses, when they 
 
          2   were told that whenever they responded, they would not be 
 
          3   tortured. Hot methods where when they questioned but did not 
 
          4   respond, then they would be beaten or tortured. They were beaten 
 
          5   with whips." 
 
          6   Do you confirm that you were present at interrogations and your 
 
          7   description of how Phy and An conducted interrogations? 
 
          8   A: I'd like to clarify on the statement of Say Sen. At that time 
 
          9   Say Sen, was a young boy, he was about 12 to 13 years old. When I 
 
         10   returned from Kampong Speu, I saw him, and he used to live in the 
 
         11   same commune where I lived. When I saw him, I had a pity on him, 
 
         12   so I asked him to come to tend the cows or the water buffalos, 
 
         13   and for that reason, he survived. And in fact, Say Sen would 
 
         14   never be able to be in a position to make such a statement. Say 
 
         15   Sen's father was a former commune chief during the Sangkum Reastr 
 
         16   Niyum. And that's the fact. Say Sen was too young to know 
 
         17   anything at the time. And he survived because of my pitiness 
 
         18   (sic) on him and because of my authority within the commune. 
 
         19   [14.50.12] 
 
         20   MR. PRESIDENT: Thank you. It is appropriate to take a short 
 
         21   break. We'll take a break now and resume at five past three. 
 
         22   Court officer, please arrange the room -- the waiting room for 
 
         23   the witness and have him return with the duty counsel at five 
 
         24   past three. 
 
         25   The Court is now in recess. 
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          1   (Court recesses from 1450H to 1513H) 
 
          2   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          3   Please be seated. The Court is now back in session. 
 
          4   And we now hand the floor, once again, to the Prosecution. You 
 
          5   may proceed. 
 
          6   [15.14.13] 
 
          7   BY MR. LYSAK: 
 
          8   Thank you, Mr. President. Let me pick up your last -- with your 
 
          9   last statement, Mr. Witness. I think everybody here is happy that 
 
         10   you spared Say Sen's life. 
 
         11   Q. Can you tell us how you had the authority to spare Say Sen's 
 
         12   life? 
 
         13   MR. PHANN CHHEN: 
 
         14   A. It is difficult to talk about the authority because he was a 
 
         15   young boy and I pitied him so I asked people to allow him to 
 
         16   stay. 
 
         17   Q. And I'm going to take you back to the testimony that I read 
 
         18   before the break about the interrogations conducted by Phy and An 
 
         19   because I want to make sure you understand that that was not Say 
 
         20   Sen's testimony; that was your testimony. This is -- this is the 
 
         21   testimony you gave to OCIJ and to help you, Mr. President, at 
 
         22   this time, I would like to present to the witness and his counsel 
 
         23   copies of the six interviews he has given to the Co-Investigating 
 
         24   Judges. With Your leave, may those be submitted to the witness? 
 
         25   [15.16.22] 
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          1   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          2   Can you please specify the document numbers? 
 
          3   MR. LYSAK: 
 
          4   My apologies, Mr. President. Yes. They are documents E3/5522, 
 
          5   E3/5524, E3/72, E319.1.20, E319/8.2.1 and E319/8.2.2. With your 
 
          6   leave, may these be submitted to the witness? 
 
          7   [15.17.17] 
 
          8   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
          9   Yes, you may do so. 
 
         10   BY MR. LYSAK: 
 
         11   The interview I was reading from was your OCIJ interview, 
 
         12   E3/5524, and if you could take a look at answers 29 through 35. 
 
         13   Is it correct, as you stated in this OCIJ interview, that you 
 
         14   were present -- you were present and watched when Phy and An 
 
         15   conducted interrogations? 
 
         16   MR. PHANN CHHEN: 
 
         17   A. Could you please repeat your question? 
 
         18   Q. As you testified to the Co-Investigating Judges, were you 
 
         19   present when Phy and An conducted interrogations? 
 
         20   A. Yes, that was the information I provided to the interrogator 
 
         21   on who conducted the interrogation. And I received that 
 
         22   information indirectly as I was questioned by the investigator. 
 
         23   [15.19.45] 
 
         24   Q. Your interview -- and I would ask you to look at it again -- 
 
         25   states: 
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          1   Question: "Do you remember if you ever participated in the 
 
          2   interrogation of anyone?" 
 
          3   Answer: "I did participate. As for my participation that was only 
 
          4   to listen". 
 
          5   Is this a correct statement? Were you there listening when An and 
 
          6   Phy conducted an interrogation? 
 
          7   A. It was the time that I came from afar and then I was asked by 
 
          8   them to visit them and I saw what happened briefly. As I was not 
 
          9   there so I did not know the details of their interrogation and 
 
         10   that was the response I provided to the OCIJ investigator. 
 
         11   Q. The person you identified named Phy -- what was his role at 
 
         12   Krang Ta Chan and is this someone who had a -- did he have a 
 
         13   position on the Tram Kak district committee? 
 
         14   [15.21.22] 
 
         15   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
         16   Q. Let me go back. It's correct that Phy was a member of the Tram 
 
         17   Kak district committee? 
 
         18   A. Yes. He was part of the Tram Kak district committee. 
 
         19   Q. And was Phy one of the cadres who conducted interrogations at 
 
         20   Krang Ta Cha? 
 
         21   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
         22   Q. I'm going to come back later to ask you some more questions 
 
         23   about interrogations in Krang Ta Chan. I want to turn back now to 
 
         24   some more general questions about the period that you were the 
 
         25   chief of Kus commune. In your answer number 45 of OCIJ statement 
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          1   E3/72, you described attending district meetings twice a month 
 
          2   while you were the commune chief of Kus commune. Can you tell us 
 
          3   where were those meetings held and who attended those meetings? 
 
          4   [15.23.07] 
 
          5   A. The meetings were held twice a month at the district office. 
 
          6   All the communes' representatives had to attend the meeting in 
 
          7   order to exchange experience and it happened on a monthly basis. 
 
          8   First, we -- the content of the meetings was on the policies, on 
 
          9   the military situation and on the economic situation. 
 
         10   Q. And where was the district office located? 
 
         11   [15.24.05] 
 
         12   A. At that time, it was in a hideout in a village called Krabei 
 
         13   Prey and Krabei Prey village was in Samraong commune. 
 
         14   Q. And did the location of the district office change later on? 
 
         15   A. The location remained there, however it was not really a major 
 
         16   site. 
 
         17   Q. You referred to it as a hideout. Can you describe for us a 
 
         18   little bit what this location was like? 
 
         19   A. For example, a house belongs to villagers then the district 
 
         20   would ask the permission from the owner to use the house for the 
 
         21   district business and then the owners would leave the house and 
 
         22   then we would hold the meeting there. 
 
         23   [15.25.42] 
 
         24   Q. And in that same interview, E3/72, at answers 17 through 19, 
 
         25   you described hearing the names of Nuon Chea and Khieu Samphan 
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          1   via cadres who conducted trainings in my area and you provided 
 
          2   the following testimony and I quote: 
 
          3   Question: "Who were the cadres who came to teach you?" 
 
          4   Answer: "Cadres from the district. The cadres who used to be 
 
          5   trained from the upper echelon, and then came to further teach 
 
          6   people in the lower echelon." 
 
          7   Question: "What were the names of those cadre teachers?" 
 
          8   Answer: "They were Nhev and Kit." 
 
          9   Can you give us a description, please, of how these leaders from 
 
         10   Tram Kak district provided training to you and the other commune 
 
         11   chiefs? 
 
         12   [15.27.04] 
 
         13   A. They provided training to us when they received documents from 
 
         14   the upper echelon and they would use those documents to 
 
         15   disseminate information to us at the commune level and then we 
 
         16   would further disseminate such information. 
 
         17   Q. And what type of documents are you referring to? 
 
         18   A. In between 1972 and '73, when there was heavy aerial 
 
         19   bombardment, the content was for us to dig trenches along the 
 
         20   roads or along the footpath and in case of emergency, then we 
 
         21   would hide ourselves in those trenches in order to save our 
 
         22   lives. On the aspect of agriculture, they talked about using the 
 
         23   (inaudible) for rice farming and besides rice farming, there were 
 
         24   also other main crops including corn and beans and we needed to 
 
         25   plant those crops actively in order to sustain the living. 
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          1   Q. Thank you. The -- what I was interested in is the type of 
 
          2   documents that were received and used for this training? Were 
 
          3   these letters? Were they telegrams? Were they a publication, a 
 
          4   magazine? Were you aware of what type of documents were received 
 
          5   by the district leaders that were used for this training? 
 
          6   [15.29.24] 
 
          7   A. In my role of a lower cadre, I did not know the details about 
 
          8   the documents they obtained or about any confidential documents. 
 
          9   As for the public or open documents, I already informed you of 
 
         10   those documents. 
 
         11   Q. Do you remember a Party publication called "Revolutionary 
 
         12   Flag" or "Red Flag" and can you tell us whether that was one of 
 
         13   the documents that was used? 
 
         14   A. On the issue of the flag magazines, during a conference or 
 
         15   mass meeting, they would display those magazines with the flags 
 
         16   on the wall and on the establishment, for instance, of the 
 
         17   Communist Party and on the social status of the people. However, 
 
         18   the meetings that we attended, was kind of a smaller meeting so 
 
         19   there was no such display. 
 
         20   [15.31.05] 
 
         21   Q. I want to read to you a statement you made in interview, 
 
         22   E319.1.20, at answers 19 through 20. In that interview of yours 
 
         23   you gave the following testimony, quote: 
 
         24   Question: "Who was the enemy?" 
 
         25   Answer: "The enemy referred to the CIA, the Americans, the White 
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          1   Khmer and Yuon." Question: "Were there any other groups which 
 
          2   were considered as enemies?" 
 
          3   Answer: "According to their principles there were many enemies, 
 
          4   but they only designated two big enemies. Anyone who did not 
 
          5   follow their line would be accused of being an enemy." End of 
 
          6   quote. 
 
          7   My question to you is how were you instructed by the Party on 
 
          8   these principles of who was considered an enemy? 
 
          9   [15.32.36] 
 
         10   A. That was the statement that I said or that I made previously. 
 
         11   Q. And my question is do you remember who gave these principles 
 
         12   to you? How were you told about who was considered an enemy? Who 
 
         13   told you and when were you told this? 
 
         14   A. Within the time that I worked at the commune level -- a little 
 
         15   bit more than one year -- the meeting chaired by the district 
 
         16   committee only focused on what I have described earlier and they 
 
         17   spoke also about the flag magazines, about the enemy, etc., in 
 
         18   order for us to be more vigilant so that we would not be 
 
         19   interrupted by the enemy. And also it's to strengthen our stance 
 
         20   and not to become an enemy. 
 
         21   [15.34.12] 
 
         22   Q. One of the groups that you referred to, indicated that they 
 
         23   had -- described as an enemy were the White Khmer, Khmer Sar. Can 
 
         24   you explain to us what White Khmer -- who or what White Khmer 
 
         25   were? 
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          1   A. Based on what I studied, Khmer Rouge were themselves. As for 
 
          2   the White Khmer, they referred to the "Yuon". 
 
          3   Q. Let me turn to another subject that I'd like to ask you a few 
 
          4   questions on and that is about Ta Mok. I'm going to read first a 
 
          5   statement you made in interview, E35524, at answers 39 and 41. 
 
          6   You were describing here an incident in which Ta Mok had helped 
 
          7   you and intervened after you had been reprimanded by someone. 
 
          8   Your statement, quote: 
 
          9   Question. "How could Ta Mok have intervened to release you, when 
 
         10   you had the problem because you had released 40 prisoners?" 
 
         11   Answer. "After they scolded me, I was afraid and reported 
 
         12   directly to Ta Mok." Continuing below. 
 
         13   Question. "How did you know Ta Mok so clearly and how were you 
 
         14   able to personally meet with him?" 
 
         15   "Answer. I had known him ever since he came in from the forest." 
 
         16   End of quote. 
 
         17   What did you mean when you said you had known Ta Mok since he 
 
         18   came in from the forest? And when -- and where was it that you 
 
         19   first met Ta Mok? 
 
         20   [15.36.46] 
 
         21   A. I think it's going to be a long response and I apologise for 
 
         22   that. So it is clear for everyone. As the - on the issue of 40 
 
         23   prisoners, in fact there were two occasions involved 40 
 
         24   prisoners, and I will also clarify on my position at the time. 
 
         25   When I was organising the people who were being transferred from 
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          1   one district to another, I arranged the accommodation for those 
 
          2   people and I worked together with the monks. And that was not at 
 
          3   the Krang Ta Chan office or at Kus commune. 
 
          4   [15.37.44] 
 
          5   Those people were from district 109, 108, 106, all within Tram 
 
          6   Kak itself. They were displaced due to the fighting, even the 
 
          7   livestock also had to be relocated and then I would put those 
 
          8   people in various houses for them to stay in the villages and 
 
          9   commune. And those people, some of them had been arrested by the 
 
         10   district, and as myself had the role of organising the 
 
         11   accommodation for them and I questioned why those people had been 
 
         12   sent to be detained and I was told that it's because of minor 
 
         13   conflicts -- that is conflicts over a coconut tree or two coconut 
 
         14   trees. And then they were sent -- they were accused of disobeying 
 
         15   their instructions and that was the time that I released those 40 
 
         16   people and that's what I was accused of. And that one event that 
 
         17   I released 40 prisoners. 
 
         18   [15.39.10] 
 
         19   And another event was when I was in Kampong Speu in 1974. There 
 
         20   was a new village and there was no proper housing there, then we 
 
         21   cleared the land near the base of the Damrei Romeal Mountain and 
 
         22   then I allotted those lands to 40 families. Those 40 families 
 
         23   were actually -- or had actually been released from Krang Ta Chan 
 
         24   prison and I was assigned to find or to arrange the housing or 
 
         25   accommodation for those 40 people. Then we asked -- I asked them 
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          1   to clear the land to build houses for them and form a new village 
 
          2   called Prey Kduoch village. It was in Basedth commune, Kampong 
 
          3   Speu province. So that was the second occasion that I released 40 
 
          4   other prisoners but what you stated involved the first batch of 
 
          5   the prisoners that I released. And I was reprimanded and scolded 
 
          6   why I released them without asking for their permission or 
 
          7   authorisation. Because to me, they were just displaced people and 
 
          8   they had no food to eat so I fed them and I considered them as 
 
          9   evacuees and because I had a role in coordinating the housings 
 
         10   for the evacuees, together with the monk, and that's what I did. 
 
         11   [15.41.03] 
 
         12   And Ta Mok helped me because I made a direct contact with him 
 
         13   since I knew him. I told him that I was victimised and that I was 
 
         14   about to be killed and I thought he should help. And the person 
 
         15   who was about to kill me was Saom, but with Ta Mok intervention 
 
         16   then my life was spared. And I'd like to talk a little bit more 
 
         17   on Say Sen. Say Sen was a boy within the army and by that time I 
 
         18   was no longer in Kus commune but when I returned, I saw him -- I 
 
         19   pitied him so I asked them to let him stay and live. And because 
 
         20   they knew me, so they get him -- or they allowed him to live. And 
 
         21   that's what happened. 
 
         22   Q. Let me go back to the prisoners who you released, who you were 
 
         23   reprimanded for. Was the person -- who was it that scolded you 
 
         24   for releasing those prisoners without his approval? 
 
         25   A. It was the sector 13 committee or secretary. 
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          1   Q. And is that the person you mentioned a few minutes ago named 
 
          2   Saom? 
 
          3   A. Yes. That's his name, Saom. 
 
          4   [15.43.27] 
 
          5   Q. And can you explain to us how it was that you were in position 
 
          6   to be able to release these prisoners without Saom's permission? 
 
          7   How were you able to release these prisoners? 
 
          8   A. I have just stated. I was part of the committee for the -- 
 
          9   organising the accommodation for the war-displaced people and 
 
         10   because I had pity on them and that's what I did. 
 
         11   Q. Your testimony is that as a member of this committee for the 
 
         12   displacement of people, you have the authority to release 
 
         13   prisoners? 
 
         14   [15.44.28] 
 
         15   A. The prisoners were transferred to -- under our management and 
 
         16   I, in fact, was not aware of their presence, but after I 
 
         17   organised the accommodations for them, then I knew what happened 
 
         18   so I allowed them to stay. I know it could be a mistake on my 
 
         19   part but I did what I thought was right. In fact, I did not have 
 
         20   any real authority to release prisoners. I was just a member of 
 
         21   that committee. 
 
         22   Q. And did Saom threaten you? You told us that you went to Ta Mok 
 
         23   because Saom was going to kill you. Why did you believe that Saom 
 
         24   was going to kill you? 
 
         25   A. He threatened me and that's why I was fearful. Everybody was 
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          1   fearful of his or her own death, with no exception, and for that 
 
          2   reason I went to find help from the senior person. 
 
          3   Q. So let's go back for a moment to just talk about Ta Mok. 
 
          4   Putting aside this incident about the release of prisoners, what 
 
          5   I'd like to know is; when was it that you first met Ta Mok? 
 
          6   [15.46.20] 
 
          7   A. I met him for first time in late 1971. 
 
          8   Q. And in the statement that I read to you a few minutes ago, you 
 
          9   said that you have known him ever since he came in from the 
 
         10   forest. What did you mean when you said that Ta Mok came in from 
 
         11   the forest? 
 
         12   [15.47.26] 
 
         13   A. That was correct. Although he joined the resistance a long 
 
         14   time ago, he did not emerge from the forest and I met him when he 
 
         15   emerged from the forest near the base of the Damrei Romeal 
 
         16   Mountain. 
 
         17   Q. And can you tell us a little bit -- what was the occasion on 
 
         18   which you met Ta Mok at the base of this mountain? 
 
         19   A. At that time, villagers and those who were responsible for the 
 
         20   villages and the communes were called to attend a big meeting 
 
         21   which was held at night. 
 
         22   Q. And what happened at meeting -- at this meeting? What was the 
 
         23   purpose of this meeting? 
 
         24   A. They spoke about the revolutionary movement against the enemy, 
 
         25   that's what they announced at the time and they stirred the 
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          1   spirit of the people to rise up in all forms and engage in 
 
          2   whatever they could do to join that movement. 
 
          3   [15.49.20] 
 
          4   Q. You say that this was late 1971, when you met Ta Mok. Can you 
 
          5   tell us how often did you see Ta Mok between that time in late 
 
          6   1971 -- between 1971 and 1973? How often did you see Ta Mok? 
 
          7   A. From the distance from my house to Ta Mok's house was about 15 
 
          8   kilometres and his location was also at the district office. For 
 
          9   that reason, when meetings were held -- it was the meetings 
 
         10   organised by either the district or the sector -- they were held 
 
         11   at the same location. And that's how I met him. So I usually met 
 
         12   him during those major meetings and I never met him on any other 
 
         13   occasions. And the meetings were usually, at that time, held at 
 
         14   night because of the fear of the aerial bombardment. 
 
         15   [15.51.02] 
 
         16   Q. In interview E3/72, answer 77, you testified that Ta Mok was 
 
         17   also known as Ta 15 and you stated, and I quote: "When he signed, 
 
         18   he wrote his name as Ta 15." End of quote. How did you know that 
 
         19   Ta Mok signed documents as Ta 15? 
 
         20   A. I knew it because of his letters, for example, his letters 
 
         21   asking for people or assigning people to perform specific tasks. 
 
         22   In those letters he would sign it with the word Ta 15 and for 
 
         23   that reason he was known as Ta 15 and I did not dare ask why he 
 
         24   was known as Ta 15. 
 
         25   Q. Did you receive these letters directly from Ta Mok or did they 
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          1   come to you through the district office? 
 
          2   A. I received those letters through the district office. I did 
 
          3   not receive them directly. 
 
          4   Q. Now we -- you've talked about already in detail how Ta Mok was 
 
          5   able to protect you after the release of the first group of 
 
          6   prisoners, and taking you to E319/8.2.2, answer 118, you gave the 
 
          7   following testimony: 
 
          8   Question: "Did Ta Mok protect you?" 
 
          9   "Yes, he did protect me. Once I was about to be taken away and 
 
         10   killed but Ta Mok helped." 
 
         11   And then continuing at Answer 122. 
 
         12   Question: "Whom did Ta Mok talk to in order to help you?" Answer: 
 
         13   "He talked with the sector, meaning Saom and Phen." 
 
         14   My question to you is did Ta Mok, as the head of the Southwest 
 
         15   Zone, have authority to prevent people from being arrested and 
 
         16   killed, as he did with you? 
 
         17   [15.54.21] 
 
         18   A. Ta Mok did help me and he in fact told the two men at the 
 
         19   sector about that. At that time, his child, Khom, did not yet 
 
         20   die. So the district blamed me for what I did and then the sector 
 
         21   also blamed me for what I did and then I went to Ta Mok for help 
 
         22   and my life was spared. 
 
         23   Q. And in interview E319.1.20 at answers 3 through answer 4, you 
 
         24   made -- you gave the following testimony, quote: "Ta Mok was the 
 
         25   chairman of the zone. He was also a Party Centre member. 
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          1   Continuing later, quote: "Because he was Party Centre member, he 
 
          2   could also govern other zones." End of quote. 
 
          3   Could you explain what you meant when you said that Ta Mok could 
 
          4   govern other zones because he was a Party Centre member? 
 
          5   [15.56.00] 
 
          6   A. I learned through the information disseminated by the district 
 
          7   and the sector that he was in charge of the Southwest Zone, 
 
          8   comprising of three provinces, namely Takeo, Kampot and Kampong 
 
          9   Speu. He was also a member of the Party Centre. For example, when 
 
         10   he went to work at a different zone, for example in the East 
 
         11   Zone, in his letter of instruction to the East Zone, he used his 
 
         12   code name "15" and then people there did not recognise his 
 
         13   authority and they did not carry out his instruction. That's this 
 
         14   kind of information I learned through the district and the 
 
         15   sector. 
 
         16   Q. You said that because he was Party Centre member he could also 
 
         17   govern other zones. Were you aware of other zones that Ta Mok 
 
         18   governed outside the Southwest Zone? 
 
         19   [15.57.42] 
 
         20   A. Yes, that is correct. 
 
         21   Q. Can you tell us what other zones Ta Mok was able to govern 
 
         22   because he was a Party Centre member? 
 
         23   A. He also governed the North Zone and I knew that because later, 
 
         24   when I was transferred to a rubber plantation, whatever they did 
 
         25   over there was to follow the instructions from Ta Mok. 
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          1   [15.58.40] 
 
          2   Q. And you used the words "Party Centre member". What did you 
 
          3   understand it to mean to be a Party Centre member? 
 
          4   A. Party Centre member, as we all know it, the Centre was the 
 
          5   core. All informations gathered from districts or provinces would 
 
          6   be collected for the Centre. That's how I understand it. 
 
          7   Q. And one more piece of information you provided related to Ta 
 
          8   Mok. This is in interview E319/8.2.2 at answers 129 -- I'm sorry 
 
          9   -- answers 129 through 131. You provided the following testimony, 
 
         10   quote: 
 
         11   Question: "During the Khmer Rouge regime did you ever hear or 
 
         12   know of sexual violence committed by Khmer Rouge cadres?" 
 
         13    Answer: "Yes, I heard of that. Sometimes the military leaders 
 
         14   had affairs with women within the military ranks." 
 
         15   Question: "When such a case occurred, what would happen to the 
 
         16   offender?" 
 
         17   Answer: "Ta Mok killed his son-in-law because of doing just that 
 
         18   many times." 
 
         19   Question: "What was his name?" 
 
         20   Answer: "Ren." 
 
         21   Now first, in regards to the son-in-law of Ta Mok, who you 
 
         22   identified in this testimony, can you tell us which daughter of 
 
         23   Ta Mok he was married to? And what his position was during the 
 
         24   Democratic Kampuchea regime? 
 
         25   [16.01.10] 
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          1   A. The statement that I provided as information that Ta Mok 
 
          2   killed his son-in-law, Ren, was correct. Ren was a former 
 
          3   division commander and in fact, he stationed in Phnom Penh and 
 
          4   later on, after Phnom Penh fell, he was still engaged in this 
 
          5   moral misconduct, although he had married to the daughter of Ta 
 
          6   Mok. 
 
          7   Q. Did you know which daughter of Ta Mok he was married to? 
 
          8   A. The daughter is still living today and she remarried. Ta Mok 
 
          9   only had daughters, not sons -- no sons. 
 
         10   [16.02.27] 
 
         11   Q. And can you tell us -- how did you know that Ta Mok had killed 
 
         12   his son-in-law for having affairs with other women? 
 
         13   A. I knew it because later on when we fled up to the Damrei 
 
         14   Mountain, we were living in a crowded area so we learned personal 
 
         15   information during that situation. And of course, it's just word 
 
         16   by mouth from one person to another. 
 
         17   [16.03.30] 
 
         18   MR. LYSAK: 
 
         19   Mr. President, I'm about to change to a different subject. Do you 
 
         20   want me to continue or is this a -- should we break at this 
 
         21   point? 
 
         22   MR. PRESIDENT: 
 
         23   Thank you, the Deputy International Co-Prosecutor. The 
 
         24   proceedings today have come to an adjournment. We will adjourn 
 
         25   now and resume tomorrow -- that is, Wednesday 25th February 2015, 
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          1   commencing from 9 o'clock in the morning. 
 
          2   Tomorrow we will continue to hear the testimony of this witness, 
 
          3   Phann Chhen. And Mr. Phann Chhen, we thank you for your time, 
 
          4   however the hearing of your testimony is not yet concluded and 
 
          5   you are invited to return again tomorrow and now you may return 
 
          6   to your place of residence. 
 
          7   Court officer, in collaboration with WESU, please make a 
 
          8   necessary arrangement for him to return to his residence and 
 
          9   bring him back into the courtroom tomorrow morning before 9 
 
         10   o'clock. 
 
         11   And security personnel, you are instructed to take the two 
 
         12   Accused, Nuon Chea and Khieu Samphan, back to the detention 
 
         13   centre of the ECCC and have them returned tomorrow morning to 
 
         14   attend the proceedings before 9 o'clock in the morning. 
 
         15   The Court is now adjourned. 
 
         16   (Court adjourns at 1605H) 
 
         17    
 
         18    
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         22    
 
         23    
 
         24    
 
         25    
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